VALIC Retirement Services Company Retirement Plan for Governmental Employers

Adoption Agreement #001 - Profit Sharing Plan

Advisory Letter Number: J593778a

The undersigned, University of South Florida Board of Trustees, a public body corporate ("Employer"), by executing this Adoption Agreement, elects to establish (or restate) a retirement plan (and trust, if applicable) (hereinafter, the "Plan") under the VALIC Retirement Services Company Retirement Plan for Governmental Employers (the "Basic Plan Document"). The Employer, subject to the Employer's elections in this Adoption Agreement, adopts fully the Plan provisions (and if applicable, the Trust provisions). The Adoption Agreement and the Basic Plan Document together constitute the Employer's entire Plan (and Trust, if applicable) document. All section references within this Adoption Agreement are Adoption Agreement section references unless the Adoption Agreement or the context indicates otherwise. All "Article" references, and all "Plan Section" references, are references to the applicable article or section of the Basic Plan Document.

The Employer makes the following elections, as permitted under the corresponding provisions of the Basic Plan Document:

A. VOLUME SUBMITTER PRACTITIONER INFORMATION.

VALIC Retirement Services Company Attn: Institutional Services 2929 Allen Parkway, L8-10 Houston, Texas 77019 888-478-7020

В.

	PL/	AN INFOR	RMATION.			
	1.	Plan Nai	ne: University of South Florida 401(a) Temporary Employee Retirement Plan			
	2.	Plan Number (e.g., 001, 002, etc.): _001_				
	3.	Effective Date: (Note: The Effective Date for a new Plan or the Restated Effective Date for a restated Plan generally cannot be earlier than the first day of the Plan Year in which this plan or restatement is adopted. If this is a restatement to computiful the Pension Protection Act of 2006 ("PPA"), the Restated Effective Date may be the first day of the current Plan Year of the Plan contains applicable retroactive effective dates with respect to provisions affected by PPA and subseque legislation/guidance. Section 414(h) pick-up contributions must relate solely to Compensation for services rendered after the later of the adoption or effective date of this Plan or restatement.)				
		a. [] b. [X]	This is a new Plan effective as of (hereinafter "Effective Date"). This amendment is a restatement of a previously established qualified plan which was originally effective _August 8, 2008 (hereinafter "Effective Date"). The effective date of this restatement is _January 3, 2019 (hereinafter "Restated Effective Date").			
	4.	Plan Yea	r/Limitation Year means the 12-consecutive month period (except for Short Plan Years) ending every (Check a. or , if applicable).			
		a. [] b. [X] c. []	December 31 Other: _June 30 Short Plan Year commencing on and ending on			
į	5.		ary Date (annual Valuation Date):			
		a. [] b. [X]	last day of the Plan Year first day of the Plan Year			

C.	EN	IPLOYE	RINF	ORMATIC	N.						
	1.	Name	of Em	ployer: <u>U</u>	niversity of	South Florida	Board of Trus	tees, a publ	lic body corpor	ate	
	2.	Addre	ss: <u>4</u>	202 East	Fowler Ave	nue					
							(Nu	mber and S	Street)		
		<u>Tamp</u> (City)	a		-				da	33620	
								(State	·)	(Zip Code)	
	3.					970					
	4.	Emplo	yer Ide	entification	Number: _	<u>59 – 310211</u>	2				
	5.	By sig define	ning th d in Co	nis Adopti ode sectio	on Agreeme n 414(d), ar	ent, the Emplo nd is a:	yer represent	ts and affirn	ns that it is a s	state or local governm	ental entity, as
		b. [d. [x] hig] cit [] sta	gher educ y or coun ate gover	tional organ ational orga ty governme nment nmental ent	inization ent					
	6.	Emplo				l					-
D.	TR	UST EL	ECTIO	N.							
	1.	All or a	portic	n of this I	Plan shall be	Trusteed pur	suant to Articl	le V of the F	Plan.		
		b. [X	.] Ye	es, this Pla	an shall hav	inded exclusiv e a nondiscret e a discretiona	ionary Trustee	e (as descri	pursuant to A bed in Article \ in Article V).	rticle X. √).	
E.	SE	RVICE.							•		
	1.	PREDI	ECESS	OR EMF	LOYER OR	OTHER EMP	LOYER.				
		This P	an sha	all recogni	ze service v	vith a predece	ssor Employe	er or other e	ntity.		
		a. [X							•		
		b. [] Ye	s, service ply):	with			S	hall be recogr	nized for purposes of	(check all that
		(i) (ii) (iv) (v)] (] (] (contril early norma	g bution accru etirement al retirement						
	2.	SERVI	CE CR		METHODS						_
		of Serv	ice cre	editing me	thod shall b	e used for this	s purpose, and	d the applic	er contribution able computat I be as follows:	as selected in Section tion period shall be the :	n G, the Hours Plan Year (or
		a. SE	RVIC	E CREDI	TING METH	OD (select on	e)				
		(i) (ii)	[]			crediting method	od				
		b. if an	he Ho d shall	urs of Se apply to	rvice crediti all Employe	ng method is es:	selected in S	ection E.2.a	a.(i) above, the	en the following must l	oe completed,
		(i)	Ho	urs of Sei	vice creditir	ng method (sel	lect one of the	following):			
			(a) (b) (c) (d)	[]	actual hours days worked nonths work other:	i ked					
		(ii)	Yea							mplovee has complete	 ed (select one

				of the	e fo	llow	ing)											
				(a) (b)]]	at le			_ Hou	rs of Serv	ice	. (1	May not exceed	l 2000 hou	ırs.)	1	·
		c.	Brea	k in se	ervi	ce r	ules	(de	scribed in I	⊃lan S	ection 6.0)4(e	:)) '	will be applied	under this	Pla	n.	
			(i) (ii)	[X] []	No Y€													
		d.	if the	Hour be co	s o	f Se lete	ervice d, a	e Cı nd s	rediting Me	thod is to all E	s selected imployees	d in s (s	E. ele	2.a.(i) above, t	hen the fo	llov	/ing	g computation period elections
			(i)	If ser	vic	e is s an	reqi Hoi	uire ur of	d for eligib f Service a	ility, th nd	e compu	atio	on	period for eligi	bility shall	beg	jin	on the date an Employee first
				(a) (b)	[]	shift	to	niversary t the Plan Y ed an Hou	'ear w	hich inclu	ıde	s tl	he first annive	rsary of th	e d	late	on which the Employee first
			(ii)	If ser shall	vice beg	e is gin d	requ	iired e da	d for vestin ate an Emp	g, earl	ly retirem first perfo	ent orm:	or s a	normal retirem n Hour of Serv	ent, the co	omp	outa	ation period for such purposes
				(a) (b)]]	shift	to	niversary t the Plan Y	'ear w	hich inclu	ıdes	s tl	ne first annive	sary of th	e d	ate	on which the Employee first
				(c)	[репо	orm	ed an Hou the last day	rot Se	rvice.				•			
F.	ELIG	BIBIL	ITY F	EQUI	RE	ME	NTS	; IN	ITIAL PLA	N ENT	TRY; PLA	N E	ΞN'	TRY DATE.				
	NOT that i	E: Emp	This S loyee	ection termir	F i	mus es e	st no mple	t be	completed	din a ı	manner w	hic	h r	estricts an Emp	oloyee's pa	artic	ipe	ation to the Plan Year in which
		cıas indiv emp	sıncan ıiduals	on un (others other	aer er i r th	ou thar an a	ner" 1 by a clo	mus eli sed	st be objec aible posit	tively o ion or	determina title). In	ble	an Idil	d free from En	ployer dis sification u	crei ındi	ion	checked below: (NOTE: Any a, and may not identify specific "other" must not exclude all ributions under Section G.3.b.
	(Do add	no lition	ourpos at ch al co select	eck i lumns	tem	າຣ	in	nor	purposes nelective (4 ntributions:	of E ₁	mployee pick-up)			purposes of ching contributi		P E of	ay mp he	loyer contributions,
	[]	N	A. No	exclu	sioi	ns		[]	N/A. No	exclus	ions	[]	N/A. No exclu	sions			N/A. No exclusions
	[]	hc	urly p	aid				[]	hourly pa	aid		1	1	hourly paid		[]	hourly paid
	[]	sa	laried					[]	salaried			[]	salaried		[]	salaried
	[]	ur	ion er	nploye	es			[]	union em	ploye	es	[]	union employe	ees	I]	union employees
	[]	no	n-resi	dent a	llier	าร		[]	non-resid	dent al	iens	ſ]	non-resident a	liens	[]	non-resident aliens
	[]	Le	ased	Emplo	yee	es		[]	Leased E	Employ	/ees	[]	Leased Emplo	yees	[]	Leased Employees
	[]	En de	classi iploye fined n doc	es in the	ba	(as isic		[]	Reclassing Employe defined in plan doci	es in the		ĺ]	Reclassified Employees defined in the plan documen		I	•	Reclassified Employees (as defined in the basic plan document)
	[]	ha ac lea	cumui	ated		/ho not at		[]	employed have accumula Pay days	ated at	who not least pecial	Ī		employees have accumulated a Pay days.	who not at least Special]	-	employees who have not accumulated at least Special Pay days.

Į,		above) not c part-tin or employ current and particin govern	
2.	CC	NDITI	ONS OF ELIGIBILITY (Plan Section 3.01).
	30	AICE IS	loyee who is not a member of an excluded classification (Section F.1.) must satisfy the following minimum age and equirements, if any, for participation in the Plan (other than contributions described in G.3.b.): ne of a. – e. May also check f., if applicable).
	a. b. c. d. e.	[X] [] [] []	Completion of (not to exceed 5) Year(s) of Service. Completion of (not to exceed 60) Month(s) of Service.
	f.	[]	FOR NEW PLANS ONLY — Regardless of any of the above age or service requirements, any Employee who was employed on the Effective Date of the Plan shall be eligible to participate in Employer contributions as of such date. (Must also elect 3.f. below.)
3.	EF	FECTI	VE DATE OF PARTICIPATION (Plan Section 3.02).
	An e.;	Emplo check	yee who has satisfied the requirements, if any, of Section F shall become a Participant as of: (Check one of a f. if applicable.)
	a. b.	[X]	such Employee's first Hour of Service (no age or service requirements). the first day of the first payroll period coinciding with or next following the date the eligibility requirements are satisfied.
	c. d. e.	[]	the earlier of the first day of the Plan Year or the first day of the seventh month of the Plan Year coinciding with or next following the date on which the eligibility requirements are satisfied. the first day of the Plan Year next following the date the eligibility requirements are satisfied. other:
	f.	l J	FOR NEW PLANS ONLY – Any Employee who was employed on the Effective Date of the Plan shall become a Participant on the Effective Date of the Plan. All other Employees shall become Participants as of the date selected in 3.a. through 3.e. above. (Must also elect 2.f. above.)
CO	NTR	IBUTIO	DNS AND FORFEITURES.
1.	EM	PLOY	EE NONELECTIVE CONTRIBUTIONS (414(h) pick-up; Plan Section 4.01(c)):
	a. b.	[X] []	N/A. No Employee nonelective contributions are allowed. Employee nonelective contributions in the amount of (must be greater than zero if selected) percent of Compensation shall be made to the Plan.
2.	EM	PLOYE	ER MATCHING CONTRIBUTIONS:
	a.	Form	ulas (select all that apply):
		(i) (ii) (iii) (iv)	 [X] N/A. No Employer matching contributions in this Plan. A discretionary percentage of a Participant's elective deferral contributions. % of a Participant's elective deferral contributions. Elective deferral contributions in excess of % of a Participant's Compensation for the year shall not be matched. (Must also complete G.2.b. below.) [] Equals the percentage of elective deferral contributions determined under the following schedule: (Must also complete G.2.b. below.)
			Years of Service Matching Percentage
			%
			% %

G.

Special Pay contributions shall be made with respect to:

(i) [] accumulated Vacation Pay Days

(ii) [] accumulated Sick Leave Days

both accumulated Vacation Pay and accumulated Sick Leave Days

			Suc	ch conti	ibutions shall be made for a Plan Year:
			(i)		for any Employee who is terminating employment during such Plan Year and who has accumulated Special Pay Days described in this Section G.3.c.
			(ii)	[]	for any active or terminating Employee with accumulated Special Pay Days described in this Section G.3.c.
4.	H(in	or	RS der	REQU to shar	IRED TO SHARE IN ALLOCATION: An active Participant must work a specified number of Hours of Service e in:
	a.		Em	ployer ı	matching contributions.
			(i) (ii)	[]	No minimum number of hours is required. Yes, a Participant must work a minimum of Hours of Service during such year. (May not exceed 2000 hours. This option not available if matching contributions are remitted to the Plan each pay period.)
	b.		Em	ployer o	contributions described in Section G.3.a.
			(i) (ii)	[X] []	No minimum number of hours is required. Yes, a Participant must work a minimum of Hours of Service during the Plan Year. (May not exceed 2000 hours. This option not available if Special Pay contributions are elected in Section G.3.c. This option also not available if Employer contributions are remitted to the Plan each pay period, or if an allocation period other than the Plan Year is selected in Section G.3.a.(ii).)
5.	FC	R	FEI	TURES	(Plan Section 4.03(e)):
	Fo	rfe	itur	es of E	mployer contributions under Sections G.2. and G.3.a. shall be:
	a. b. c.	į	X]]	used alloca	Employer contributions are 100% Vested. to reduce future Employer contributions under this Plan. ated to all Participants eligible to share in the allocations in the same proportion that each Participant's
	d.	I]	COIL	pensation for the Plan Year bears to the Compensation of all Participants for the year. If (must require use/exhaustion of forfeitures as soon as administratively feasible):
6.	CC	N.	TRI	BUTIO	NS AND FORFEITURES ALLOCATED TO TERMINATED PARTICIPANTS (Plan Section 4.03(e)):
	For cor	r c ntri	ontr buti	ibution: ions an	s described in Section G.2. only, a Terminated Participant shall share in the allocation of Employer matching d forfeitures for the Plan Year as follows:
	a.	[]	A Pai	ticipant must be employed on the last day of the Plan Year in order to share in the allocation.
	b.	[]	A Pa termir	rticipant must be employed on the last day of the Plan Year in order to share in the allocation, unless nation was for reason of death, Total and Permanent Disability, early retirement or normal retirement.
	C.	Ī]	raiuc	ticipant must be employed on the last day of the Plan Year in order to share in the allocation, unless such ipant worked at least Hours of Service during such year. (May not exceed 2000 hours.)
	d.	[]	(CITILII)	rticipant must be employed on the last day of the Plan Year in order to share in the allocation, unless nation was for reason of death, Total and Permanent Disability, early retirement or normal retirement, and Participant worked at least Hours of Service during such year. (May not exceed 2000 hours.)
	e.	[]	A Par in ord	ticipant is not required to be employed on the last day of the Plan Year or work a minimum number of hours er to share in the allocation.
	COLL		JULII	וטן פווכ	s described in Section G.3.a. only, a Terminated Participant shall share in the allocation of Employer than Employer matching contributions) for the Plan Year or other allocation period as follows. the period selected in Section G.3.a.(ii), forfeitures shall be allocated based on the Plan Year.
	a.			A Par	ticipant must be employed on the last day of such Plan Year (or other applicable period as selected in on G.3.a.(ii)) to share in the allocation of Employer contributions.
	b.	[]	Disabi forfeit	icipant must be employed on the last day of the Plan Year (or other allocation period as selected in Section (ii)) in order to share in the allocation, unless termination was for reason of death, Total and Permanent lity, early retirement or normal retirement. Notwithstanding the period selected in Section G.3.a.(ii), ares shall be allocated to any Participant employed on the last day of the Plan Year, unless termination was son of death, Total and Permanent Disability, early retirement or normal retirement.
	C.	1]	during	icipant must be employed on the last day of the Plan Year (or other applicable period as selected in Section (ii)) in order to share in the allocation, unless such Participant worked at least Hours of Service such year. (May not exceed 2000 hours.) If Section G.3.a.(ii) is selected, then the Hours of Service ement is applicable to allocation of forfeitures only.

		d.	[]	G.3. Disa Sen	articipant must be employed on the last day of the Plan Year (or other applicable period as selected in Section a.(ii)) in order to share in the allocation, unless termination was for reason of death, Total and Permanent ability, early retirement or normal retirement, and such Participant worked at least Hours of vice during such year. (May not exceed 2000 hours.) If Section G.3.a.(ii) is selected, then the Hours of Service different is applicable to allocation of forfeitures only.
		e.	[X]	A P sele	articipant is not required to be employed on the last day of the Plan Year (or other applicable period as cted in Section G.3.a.(ii)) or work a minimum number of hours in order to share in the allocation.
	7.	FR	OZEI	N PLAI	
		a. b.	[X]	This	Plan is not frozen. Plan is a frozen plan effective No contributions will be made to the Plan with respect ny period following the stated date.
	8.	CC	NTIN cruals	IUED E	BENEFIT ACCRUALS FOR PARTICIPANTS ON MILITARY LEAVE (Plan Section 12.02). Continued benefit HEART Act will not apply unless elected below:
		a.	[]	The	provisions of Plan Section 12.02 apply effective as of: (select one)
			(i) (ii)	[]	the first day of the 2007 Plan Year(may not be earlier than first day of the 2007 Plan Year)
			Hov	vever,	the provisions no longer apply effective as of: (select if applicable)
			(iii)	[]	
Н.	CC	MPE	NSA	TION.	
	1.	CO	MPEI	NSATI	ON with respect to any Participant means:
		a. b. c.	[X] [] []	415	es, tips and other Compensation on Form W-2. safe-harbor compensation. e section 3401 wages (wages for Federal income tax withholding).
			How		Compensation shall exclude:
			(i) (ii) (iii) (iv) (v) (vi)	[X] [] []	N/A. No exclusions overtime bonuses commissions shift differential pay other Compensation earned from excluded Employee class (FICA exempt) (Must be objectively determinable and applied in a uniform, nondiscriminatory basis, e.g., taxable reimbursements or other fringe benefits.)
	2.	Cor	npens	sation s	shall be based on:
		a. b. c.	[X] [] []	the F	lan Year. iscal Year ending with or within the Plan Year. alendar year ending with or within the Plan Year.
	3.	Hov	vever,		Employee's first year of participation, Compensation shall be recognized as of:
		a.		the fi	rst day of the period selected in 2. above. articipant's Effective Date of Participation (Section F.3.).
	4.	In a	dditio: iction	n, Com amour	pensation shall include compensation that is not currently includible in the Participant's gross income (salary nts) by reason of the application of Code Sections 125, 402(g)(3) or 457, and 132(f)(4).
		a.	[X]	Yes	
			(i) (ii)	[X] []	Code Section 125 elective deferrals will include deemed Code Section 125 compensation. Code Section 125 elective deferrals will not include deemed Code Section 125 compensation.
		b.	[]	No	
	5.	Com	pens	ation fo	or purposes of calculating contributions to the Plan will be determined:
		4	[X] []		annual basis. payroll period basis (must also check (i) or (ii) below).

		(i) (ii)	[]	Contributions will be adjusted, if necessary, to meet the Plan formula on an annual basis. Contributions will not be adjusted to meet the Plan formula on an annual basis.
6.	Dif 31,	ferenti , 2008,	al wag , as Cc	e payments (as described in Plan Section 12.03) will be treated, for Plan Years beginning after December Impensation for all Plan benefit purposes unless a. is elected below:
	a.	[] (i) (ii)	In lie	December 31, 2008).
		(iii)	ij	The inclusion only applies to Compensation for purposes of Employee nonelective contributions. Differential wage payments shall <u>not</u> be treated as Compensation for purposes of any Plan benefit accruals.
7.	Se	Cuon F	۱./.b. ۱	paid after severance from employment (Plan Section 4.04). Note: The Employer only needs to complete in order to override the default provisions set forth in H.7.a., below. If the Plan will use all of the default Section H.7.b. should be skipped.
	a.	Defa (i) (ii) (iii)	referred Employment of the "The Ishall	provisions. Unless the Employer elects otherwise in Section H.7.b. below, the following defaults will apply: provisions of the Plan setting forth the definition of compensation for purposes of Code § 415 (hereinafter red to as "415 Compensation") shall be modified (with respect to amounts paid after Severance from loyment) by (1) including payments for unused sick, vacation or other leave and payments from nonqualified inded deferred compensation plans (Plan Section 4.04(d)(2)(ii)), (2) excluding salary continuation payments articipants on military leave (Plan Section 4.04(d)(2)(iii)), and (3) excluding salary continuation payments for bled participants (Plan Section 4.04(d)(2)(iv)). (first few weeks rule" does not apply for purposes of 415 Compensation (Plan Section 4.04(d)(2)). Plan's definition of compensation for allocation purposes (hereinafter referred to as "Plan Compensation") be modified to provide for the same adjustments to Plan Compensation (for all contribution types) that are at the 415 Compensation pursuant to this Section H.7.
	b.	In lie	u of th lefaults	e default provisions in H.7.a., above, the following apply (select all that apply; if no selections are made, then sapply):
		415 (i) (ii) (iii) (iv)	Compe [] [] []	ensation (select all that apply): Exclude leave cashouts and deferred compensation (Plan Section 4.04(d)(2)(ii)) Include military continuation payments (Plan Section 4.04(d)(2)(iii)) Include disability continuation payments (Plan Section 4.04(d)(2)(iv)) for all participants, and the salary continuation will continue for the following fixed or determinable period: Apply the administrative delay ("first few weeks") rule (Plan Section 4.04(d)(2))
		Plan (v) (vi) (vii) (viii) (ix) (x) (xi)	[X] [] []	Pensation (select all that apply): No change from existing Plan provisions Exclude all post-severance compensation Exclude post-severance regular pay Exclude leave cashouts and deferred compensation Include post-severance military continuation payments Include post-severance disability continuation payments for all participants, and the salary continuation will continue for the following fixed or determinable period: Other:
		Plan effect (xii)	uve as	pensation Special Effective Date. The definition of Plan Compensation is modified as set forth herein of the same date as the 415 Compensation change is effective unless otherwise specified:
TR/	ANSF	ERS A	AND R	OLLOVERS FROM OTHER EMPLOYER PLANS (Plan Section 4.06) will be allowed:
1. 2. 3.	[] [X] []	Yes,	, for a	articipants only. Ill Employees. (Must be selected for plans which intend to accept transfers or rollovers from Code 4(k) accounts under defined benefit plans for all Employees, regardless of their status as Participants.)
	If 1.2	2. or 1.3	3. is ch	osen:
	Dist perr	ributio nits a c	ns fron distribu	n a Participant's Rollover Account may be made at any time, even if there is no distributable event which tion of other accounts.
	a. b.	[] [X]	No Yes	

ı.

	1.	The vesting schedule(s) for Employer contributions (other of Years of Service (or twelve month Periods of Service, if	than those described in G.1., G.3.b. or G.3.c.), based on number Elapsed Time) shall be as follows:
		Employer contributions (other than matching):	Employer matching contributions:
		a. [X] 100% immediate	a. [] 100% immediate
		b. [] Year Cliff (not to exceed 15 years)	b. [] Year Cliff (not to exceed 15 years)
		c. [] Graded:	c. [] Graded:
		Years of Service Vesting Percentage (not to exceed 15)	<u>Years of Service</u> <u>Vesting Percentage</u> (not to exceed 15)
		 _	
		100%	100%
		d. [] Other (must provide for 100% vesting after no m	ore than 15 years of service):
	2.	In determining Years of Service or Periods of Service for ve	esting purposes, the following service shall be EXCLUDED:
		 a. [X] N/A. All Years of Service or Periods of Service s b. [] Service prior to the Effective Date of the Plan or c. [] Service prior to the time an Employee attained a 	a predecessor plan.
	3.	Vesting Upon Death	-
		a. [X] 100% vesting, or	
		b. [] apply vesting schedule	
	4.	Vesting Upon Disability	
		a. [X] 100% vesting, orb. [] apply vesting schedule	
K.	NO	DRMAL RETIREMENT AGE; EARLY RETIREMENT AGE.	
	1.	NORMAL RETIREMENT AGE ("NRA") means:	
		a. [X] attainment of age 65 (not to exceed 65).	
		b. [] the later of attainment of age (not to ex- first day of the Plan Year in which participation in	cceed 65) or the (not to exceed 10th) anniversary of the
		c. [] other:	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	2.	EARLY RETIREMENT AGE ("ERA") means:	
		a. [] no early retirement provision.	
		b. [X] attainment of age <u>55</u> (not to exceed 65).	cood GEV or the
		first day of the Plan Year in which participation in	cceed 65) or the (not to exceed 10th) anniversary of the the Plan commenced.
		d. [] the later of attainment of age (not to e Service or (not to exceed 120) Months	XCEED 65) or completion of (not to exceed 10) Years of
		e. [] other:	or dervice.
L.	IN-	SERVICE DISTRIBUTIONS (Plan Section 6.10)	
	1.	[X] Except as provided in Sections I or M, no distributi-	on may be made prior to termination of employment. (must be
	2.	selected for plans that select G.3.b.)	•
	۷.	Participant to terminate employment, provided the following	on, from any accounts that are 100% Vested without requiring the owing condition(s) has been satisfied (must select at least one):
		a. [] the Participant has attained age b. [] the amount distributed has accumulated for at least	east two (2) Plan Years.

L.

J. VESTING. (Plan Section 6.04(b)).

		C.	[]	the Participant has participated in the Plan for at least five (5) Plan Years.	
M.	НА	RDSI	HIP DI	ISTRIBUTIONS (Plan Section 6.11)	
	1.	Har a. b.	[X]	distributions may be made from any accounts that are 100% Vested: No (must be selected for plans that select G.3.b.) Yes (must also complete item 2. below)	
	2.	Har belo a.	w (ap)	distributions for expenses of Beneficiaries will be allowed effective as of August 17, 2006, unless a. or oplies only to plans that allow hardship distributions): Hardship distributions for Beneficiary expenses are allowed effective as of	
		b.	[]		
N.	DIS em	TRIE	BUTIOI nent sh	NS UPON TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT (Plan Section 6.04(a)). Distributions upon tention that the made unless the following conditions have been satisfied: SEE ADDENDUM	mination of
	2. 3.	[]	The The Distr	h. Immediate distributions may be made at Participant's election. Participant has incurred (not to exceed five (5)) 1-Year Break(s) in Service. Participant has reached Early or Normal Retirement Age. tributions may be made at the Participant's election on or after the Anniversary Date following tendologment.	mination of
Ο.	allill	uity c	onnac	NS ON FORM OF DISTRIBUTIONS (Plan Sections 6.05 and 6.06). If the Employer has designated on the cits as eligible investments under the Plan, distributions under the Plan may be made in the form of ar ibutions under the Plan may be made:	ene or more annuity. In
	1. 2.	[X]		ımp sums. ımp sums or installments.	
P.	INV	OLUI	NTAR	Y DISTRIBUTIONS	
	ran	iicipa.	III. NOI	distribution of a terminated Participant's Vested interest in the Plan may be made without the conte: If the Employer elects 3. or 4., below, the Employer must select an IRA provider for automatic rol. 0.05(b).	sent of the lovers. See
		[X] []	Yes, 411(a Parti	, but only if the distribution does not exceed \$1,000. , but only if the Participant's Vested interest does not exceed the cash-out limit in effect under Co (a)(11)(A) for the Plan Year that includes the date of distribution. For purposes of determining watching icipant's Vested interest exceeds the cash-out limit, rollover contributions shall be (must select a. or b. b.	thether the
			b. [Yes, for P Partic 411(a] included , regardless of the amount. Note: If any portion of the Participant's Vested interest is attributable to or Part-time, Seasonal or Temporary Employees under Section G.3.b., distribution may not be made icipant's consent if the Participant's Vested interest is greater than the cash-out limit in effect under Co(a)(11)(A) for the Plan Year that includes the date of distribution.	without the
Q .	ИОИ	I-SP	DUSAI	L ROLLOVERS (Plan Section 6.14(g)). Non-spousal rollovers are allowed after December 31, 2006 i	ınless 1 or
	2. is	eleci	eu nei	now (Flan Section 6.14(g) provides that such distributions are always allowed after December 31, 2009)	:
		[]	Non-	-spousal rollovers are not allowed prior to January 1, 2010. -spousal rollovers are allowed effective (not earlier than January 1, 2007 and not ember 31, 2009).	later than
₹.	IN-S (of a	ERVI mour	ICE DI nts trar	ISTRIBUTIONS OF TRANSFERRED MONEY PURCHASE ASSETS (Plan Section 6.10). In-service du nsferred to this Plan from a money purchase pension plan) will not be allowed unless 1. is elected below	istributions v:
	1.		railici	vice distributions (of amounts transferred to this Plan from a money purchase pension plan) will be a ipants at age (cannot be less than 62) effective as of the first day of the 2007 Plan Year unless anoted below:	allowed for ther date is
		a.	[]	(may not be earlier than the first day of the 2007 Plan Year).	
		AND b.	[]	ollowing limitations apply to such in-service distributions: The Plan already provides for in-service and the restrictions set forth in the Plan (e.g., minimum distributions or frequency of distributions) are applicable to in-service distributions of amounts transfermoney purchase plan.	amount of red from a
	,	C.		money purchase plan. N/A. No limitations.	ieu ((0)

	 d. [] The following elections apply to in-service distributions of transferred money purchase assets (select all that apply):
	(i) [] The minimum amount of a distribution is \$ (may not exceed \$1,000). (ii) [] No more than distribution(s) may be made to a Participant during a Plan Year. (iii) [] Distributions may only be made from accounts that are fully Vested. (iv) [] In-service distributions may be made subject to the following provisions: (must be definitely determinable and not subject to discretion).
S.	QUALIFIED RESERVIST DISTRIBUTIONS (Plan Section 6.12). Qualified Reservist Distributions will not be allowed unless 1. is elected below:
	1. [] Qualified Reservist Distributions are allowed effective as of (may not be earlier than September 12, 2001).
T.	DISTRIBUTIONS FOR "DEEMED" SEVERANCE OF EMPLOYMENT OF PARTICIPANT ON MILITARY LEAVE (Plan Section 12.04). The Plan does not permit distributions pursuant to Plan Section 12.04 unless otherwise elected below:
	 [] The Plan permits such distributions, effective January 1, 2007. [X] The Plan permits such distributions effective as of <u>July 1, 2011</u> (may not be earlier than January 1, 2007).
U.	WRERA (RMD WAIVERS FOR 2009) (Plan Section 6.16). The provisions of Plan Section 6.16(a) apply (RMDs continue in accordance with the terms of the Plan for Participants or Beneficiaries receiving installment payments unless such Participant or Beneficiary elects otherwise, whereas RMDs are suspended for all other Participants and Beneficiaries) unless otherwise elected below:
	 [] The provisions of Plan Section 6.16(b) apply (RMDs continue in accordance with the terms of the Plan for all Participants and Beneficiaries, unless otherwise elected by a Participant or Beneficiary). [] The provisions of Plan Section 6.16(c) apply (RMDs continue in accordance with the terms of the Plan for all Participants and Beneficiaries, but only Participants or Beneficiaries receiving installment payments may elect otherwise). [] Other:
	For purposes of Plan Section 6.16, the Plan will also treat the following as eligible rollover distributions in 2009: (If no election is made, then a direct rollover will be offered only for distributions that would be eligible rollover distributions without regard to Code §401(a)(9)(H)):
	 4. [] 2009 RMDs (as defined in Section 6.16(a) of the Plan) and installment payments that include 2009 RMDs. 5. [] 2009 RMDs (as defined in Section 6.16(a) of the Plan) but only if paid with an additional amount that is an eligible rollover distribution without regard to Code §401(a)(9)(H).
٧.	LOANS TO PARTICIPANTS (Plan Section 11.01)
	Loans to Participants shall be made:
	 [X] No (must be selected for plans that select G.3.b.) [] Yes, for any reason [] Yes, but only on account of hardship or financial need
w.	DIRECTED INVESTMENT ACCOUNTS (Plan Section 4.09) are permitted for the interest in any one or more accounts:
	1. [X] Yes, but subject to the following restrictions:
	a. [X] No restrictions apply. b. [] Only if accounts are 100% vested.
	2. [] No
	3. [] Other:
X.	DOMESTIC RELATIONS ORDERS (Plan Section 6.13). Distributions to an "alternate payee" may be made prior to the time when the Participant is entitled to a distribution under the terms of the Plan:
	1. [] No 2. [X] Yes
Y.	TOTAL AND PERMANENT DISABILITY (Plan Section 1.45). Total and Permanent Disability will be determined based on the definition in Section 1.45 of the Plan unless an alternate definition is elected and described below:
	1. [] Alternate definition:

RESTRICTIONS ON USE OF ADOPTION AGREEMENT: This Adoption Agreement may be used solely in conjunction with the VALIC Retirement Services Company Retirement Plan for Governmental Employers (the Basic Plan Document). The Adoption Agreement and the Basic Plan Document together constitute the "volume submitter document" that is being adopted by the Employer.

APPROVAL BY VOLUME SUBMITTER PRACTITIONER REQUIRED: This volume submitter specimen document may be adopted only with the approval of the Volume Submitter Practitioner identified in Section A above. However, the adoption of this Plan, its qualification by the IRS, and the related tax consequences are the responsibility of the Employer and its independent tax and legal advisors. The Volume Submitter Practitioner will inform the adopting Employer of any amendments made to the volume submitter document, or of the discontinuance or abandonment of the volume submitter document.

RELIANCE ON VOLUME SUBMITTER PLAN: The adopting Employer may rely on an advisory letter issued to the Volume Submitter Practitioner by the Internal Revenue Service as evidence that the plan is qualified under Code Section 401 only if (1) the Employer's plan is identical to a volume submitter specimen plan with a currently valid favorable advisory letter, (2) the Employer has chosen only options permitted under the Adoption Agreement portion of the specimen document, (3) the Employer has followed the terms of the plan, and (4) all other conditions of section 19 of Revenue Procedure 2011-49 have been satisfied.

The Employer may not rely on an advisory letter in certain circumstances or with respect to certain qualification requirements as described in section 19 of Revenue Procedure 2011-49. For example, the Employer may not rely on an advisory letter with respect to the requirements of Section 415 if the Employer maintains or has ever maintained another plan covering some of the same participants. In those circumstances where an Employer is not permitted to rely on an advisory letter issued to the Volume Submitter Practitioner, either generally or with respect to a particular qualification requirement, the Employer may choose to apply to the Internal Revenue Service for a determination letter.

CAUTION: This volume submitter document has been designed for use solely by Employers that are state or local governmental entities. As such, it is designed solely for "governmental plans" that are exempt from Title I of ERISA and certain provisions of the Internal Revenue Code that otherwise apply to qualified plans. However, there may be restrictions under state or local law on a governmental Employer's right to establish its own qualified plan (or on the types of provisions that may be included in such plan). The Employer should consult with legal counsel to verify that the establishment of this plan (or the specific provisions elected in this Adoption Agreement) are not contrary to existing state law. Neither the Volume Submitter Practitioner nor its employees or representatives are authorized to provide legal or tax advice to the Employer or its employees or representatives. Failure to properly complete this Adoption Agreement may result in disqualification of the plan.

Signed th	his 6th day of March, 2019.
Name of	Employer: University of South Florida Board of Trustees, a public body corporate Signed:
Name of	Signed: AIG Federal Savings Bank Printed name and title: Published ATYUST Officer
Name of	Co-Trustee*:
	Signed:
	Printed name and title:
Mailing A	Address of Trustee(s)*:
	AIG Federal Savings Bank
	503 Carr Road, Suite 130
	Wilmington, Delaware 19809
Approva Submitte	I of Volume Submitter Practitioner: The Employer's adoption of this volume submitter document is approved by the Volume er Practitioner, VALIC Retirement Services Company.
By:	Brands Bradley
Title:	March, 22an, 2019

*COMPLETE ONLY IF A TRUSTEED PLAN

ADDENDUM

TO THE

UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH FLORIDA 401(a) TEMPORARY EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLAN

ITEM ONE

Section G.5. of Adoption Agreement #001 is hereby amended to read as follows:

N.		NS UPON TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT (Plan Section 6.04(a)). Distributions upon termination shall not be made unless the following conditions have been satisfied:
	2. [] The	Immediate distributions may be made at Participant's election. Participant has incurred (not to exceed five (5)) 1-Year Break(s) in Service.
	3. [] The	Participant has reached Early or Normal Retirement Age.
	termi	ibutions may be made at the Participant's election on or after the Anniversary Date following ination of employment.
	5. [X] The	end of 30 days following the date the Participant terminates employment.

ITEM TWO

Section 3.05 of the VALIC RETIREMENT SERVICES COMPANY RETIREMENT PLAN FOR GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYERS Basic Plan Document is hereby amended to read as follows:

3.05 ELECTION NOT TO PARTICIPATE

An Employee may, subject to the approval of the Employer, elect voluntarily not to participate in the Plan. The election not to participate must be communicated to the Employer, in writing, at least thirty (30) days before the beginning of a Plan Year. However, if the Employer elects, in Section G.3.b. of the Adoption Agreement, to make contributions for Part-time, Seasonal and Temporary Employees, such Employees are mandated to participate and may not elect out of the Plan. Furthermore, the foregoing election not to participate must be irrevocable and made either at Plan inception or when the Employee is first eligible to participate.

ITEM THREE

Section 5.08 of the VALIC RETIREMENT SERVICES COMPANY RETIREMENT PLAN FOR GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYERS Basic Plan Document is hereby amended to read as follows:

5.08 TRUSTEE INDEMNIFICATION

Solely to the extent allowed and as limited by the Sovereign immunity afforded to it by Florida Statute 768.28, the Employer agrees to indemnify and save harmless the Trustee against any and all claims, losses, damages, expenses and liabilities the Trustee may incur in the exercise and performance of the Trustee's powers and duties hereunder, unless the same are determined to be due to gross negligence or willful misconduct.

ITEM FOUR

Section 10.06 of the VALIC RETIREMENT SERVICES COMPANY RETIREMENT PLAN FOR GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYERS Basic Plan Document is hereby amended to read as follows:

10.06 INSURER INDEMNIFICATION

Solely to the extent allowed and as limited by the Sovereign immunity afforded to it by Florida Statute 768.28, the Employer agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Insurer against any and all claims, losses, damages, expenses and liabilities the Insurer may incur in the exercise and performance of the Insurer's duties hereunder, unless the same are determined to be due to gross negligence or willful misconduct on the part of the Insurer.

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF RETIREMENT PLAN VIA ADOPTION OF VALIC RETIREMENT SERVICES COMPANY RETIREMENT PLAN FOR GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYERS

WHEREAS, University of South Florida Board of Trustees, a public body corporate (hereinafter, the "Employer"), previously established the University of South Florida 401(a) Temporary Employee Retirement Plan (hereinafter, the "Plan") for the exclusive benefit of its employees and their beneficiaries, which Plan was originally effective as of August 8, 2008; and

WHEREAS, the Employer retained the power to amend and/or terminate the Plan; and

WHEREAS, the Employer now desires to amend and restate the Plan by adopting the VALIC Retirement Services Company Retirement Plan for Governmental Employers document; and

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Employer hereby amends and restates that Plan, effective January 3, 2019, by adopting the document titled "VALIC Retirement Services Company Retirement Plan for Governmental Employers," in the form and substance as the document heretofore presented to the governing body of the Employer; and

RESOLVED FURTHER, that the appropriate representatives of the Employer be, and the same hereby are, authorized and directed to: (i) execute the adoption agreement to the VALIC Retirement Services Company Retirement Plan for Governmental Employers document as approved; (ii) execute all other documents and to do all other things as may be necessary or appropriate to make the VALIC Retirement Services Company Retirement Plan for Governmental Employers document effective December 3, 2018, including the execution of any amendments required by the Internal Revenue Service in order to continue and maintain the qualified and exempt status of the Plan; and (iii) execute any other documents required to obtain reliance on advisory letters issued to the VALIC Retirement Services Company Retirement Plan for Governmental Employers by the Internal Revenue Service.

CERTIFICATION

The undersigned hereby certifies that he/she is an Authorized Representative of the Plan and that the attached hereto are true copies of the Plan as amended and restated.

Appendix A

Special Effective Dates

Pursuant to Section 7.01(a) of the Basic Plan Document, the Employer may specify or change the effective date of one or more provisions of the Adoption Agreement by completing this Appendix A. The Employer may wish to specify one or more special effective dates if, for example, (i) certain Plan provisions will not be effective until a later date, or (ii) the Plan is being restated for the Pension Protection Act of 2006 (retroactive to the first day of the current Plan Year), and special effective dates are needed to reflect discretionary amendments to the Plan since the beginning of the Plan Year. However, no special effective date may be earlier than the Effective Date (or the Restated Effective Date, in the case of a restatement) of the Plan, and no special effective date shall result in the delay of a Plan provision beyond the permissible effective date under any applicable law. For periods prior to the special effective date(s) specified below, the Plan terms in effect prior to its restatement under this Adoption Agreement will control for purposes of the designated provisions.

SPECIAL EFFECTIVE DATES. The following special effective dates apply: (select a. or all that apply)

a.	[X]	N/A. The Employer is not electing any special effective dates.
b.	[]	Eligibility Requirements. The Eligibility and/or Entry Date provisions in Section F. are effective:
c.	[]	Contributions and Forfeitures. The Contribution and/or Forfeiture provisions in Section G. are effective
d.	[]	Compensation. The Compensation provisions in Section H. are effective:
e.	[]	Vesting. The Vesting provisions in Section J. are effective:
		Other special effective date(s):

VALIC RETIREMENT SERVICES COMPANY
RETIREMENT PLAN FOR GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYERS
Basic Plan Document

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICL	E I - DEFINITIONS	4
ARTICL	E II - ADMINISTRATION	13
2.01	POWERS AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE EMPLOYER	
2.02	DESIGNATION OF ADMINISTRATIVE AUTHORITY	
2.03	ALLOCATION AND DELEGATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES	13
2.04	POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE ADMINISTRATOR	14
2.05	RECORDS AND REPORTS	14
2.06	APPOINTMENT OF ADVISERS	
2.07	INFORMATION FROM EMPLOYER	
2.08	PAYMENT OF CONTRACT FEES	
2.09	PAYMENT OF EXPENSES	
2.10	MAJORITY ACTIONS	
2.11	CLAIMS PROCEDURE	
2.12	CLAIMS REVIEW PROCEDURE	15
ARTICL	E III - ELIGIBILITY	17
3.01	CONDITIONS OF ELIGIBILITY	
3.02	EFFECTIVE DATE OF PARTICIPATION	
3.03	DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY	
3.04	TERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY	
3.05	ELECTION NOT TO PARTICIPATE	18
ARTICL	E IV - CONTRIBUTION AND ALLOCATION	19
4.01	FORMULA FOR DETERMINING EMPLOYER'S CONTRIBUTION	19
4.02	TIME OF PAYMENT OF EMPLOYER'S CONTRIBUTION	
4.03	ALLOCATION OF CONTRIBUTIONS, FORFEITURES AND EARNINGS	20
4.04	MAXIMUM ANNUAL ADDITIONS	
4.05	ADJUSTMENT FOR EXCESSIVE ANNUAL ADDITIONS	
4.06	TRANSFERS AND ROLLOVERS FROM OTHER EMPLOYER PLANS	28
4.07	VOLUNTARY EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS (EMPLOYEE AFTER-TAX	
	CONTRIBUTIONS)	
4.08	QUALIFIED VOLUNTARY EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS	
4.09	DIRECTED INVESTMENT ACCOUNT	30
ARTICL	E V - TRUSTEE AND CUSTODIAN	31
5.01	BASIC RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE TRUSTEE	
5.02	INVESTMENT POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE TRUSTEE	32
5.03	OTHER POWERS OF THE TRUSTEE	
5.04	DUTIES OF THE TRUSTEE REGARDING PAYMENTS	
5.05	TRUSTEE'S COMPENSATION AND EXPENSES AND TAXES	
5.06	ANNUAL REPORT OF THE TRUSTEE	35
5.07	RESIGNATION, REMOVAL AND SUCCESSION OF TRUSTEE	
5.08	TRUSTEE INDEMNIFICATION	
5.09	VALUATION OF THE TRUST FUND	
5.10	METHOD OF VALUATION	
5.11	USE OF CUSTODIAL ACCOUNT	37
ARTICL	E VI - DETERMINATION AND DISTRIBUTION OF BENEFITS	38
6.01	DETERMINATION OF BENEFITS UPON RETIREMENT	38
6.02	DETERMINATION OF BENEFITS UPON DEATH	
6.03	DETERMINATION OF BENEFITS IN EVENT OF DISABILITY	
6.04	DETERMINATION OF BENEFITS UPON TERMINATION	38

6.05	DISTRIBUTION OF BENEFITS	
6.06	DISTRIBUTION OF BENEFITS UPON DEATH	41
6.07	TIME OF SEGREGATION OR DISTRIBUTION	42
6.08	DISTRIBUTION FOR MINOR BENEFICIARY	
6.09	LOCATION OF PARTICIPANT OR BENEFICIARY UNKNOWN	
6.10	IN-SERVICE DISTRIBUTION	
6.11	ADVANCE DISTRIBUTION FOR HARDSHIP	
6.12	QUALIFIED RESERVIST DISTRIBUTIONS	44
6.13	LIMITATIONS ON BENEFITS AND DISTRIBUTIONS UNDER DOMESTIC RELATIONS ORDERS	44
6.14	DIRECT ROLLOVER	
6.15	REQUIRED MINIMUM DISTRIBUTIONS	
6.16	WAIVER OF 2009 REQUIRED MINIMUM DISTRIBUTIONS	
6.17	PARTICIPANT DISTRIBUTION NOTIFICATION	
ARTICLI	E VII - AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION	52
7.01	AMENDMENT BY EMPLOYER	
7.02	AMENDMENT BY VOLUME SUBMITTER PRACTITIONER	
7.03	TERMINATION	
ARTICLI	E VIII - MISCELLANEOUS	
8.01	EMPLOYER ADOPTIONS	
8.02	PARTICIPANT'S RIGHTS	
8.03	ALIENATION	
8.04	CONSTRUCTION OF PLAN	
8.05	GENDER AND NUMBER	
8.06	LEGAL ACTION	
8.07	PROHIBITION AGAINST DIVERSION OF FUNDS	
8.08	EMPLOYER'S, ADMINISTRATOR'S AND TRUSTEE'S PROTECTIVE CLAUSE	
8.09	INSURER'S PROTECTIVE CLAUSE	
8.10	RECEIPT AND RELEASE FOR PAYMENTS	
8.11	ACTION BY THE EMPLOYER	
8.12	RESPONSIBLE PARTIES AND ALLOCATION OF RESPONSIBILITY	
8.13	HEADINGS	
8.14	APPROVAL BY INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE	
8.15	UNIFORMITY	
	E IX - PARTICIPATING EMPLOYERS	
9.01	ELECTION TO BECOME A PARTICIPATING EMPLOYER	58
9.02	REQUIREMENTS OF PARTICIPATING EMPLOYERS	58
9.03	DESIGNATION OF AGENT	
9.04	EMPLOYEE TRANSFERSPARTICIPATING EMPLOYER'S CONTRIBUTION AND FORFEITURES	
9.05	AMENDMENTAMENDMENT	
9.06	DISCONTINUANCE OF PARTICIPATION	
9.07 9.08	ADMINISTRATOR'S AUTHORITY	
	E X - CONTRACTS	
10.01	PURCHASE OF CONTRACTS EMPLOYER DESIGNATED AS OWNER	
10.02		
10.03	TYPE OF CONTRACT(S) VOTING RIGHTS	
10.04 10.05	CERTIFICATE OF PARTICIPATION	
10.03	INSURER INDEMNIFICATION	
10.00	11 NAZINER 11 NZDIVITU IV./N I IV./N I IV./N I IV./N I IV./N III./N IIII	(1()

ARTICLI	E XI - LOANS, AUDITS AND TRANSFERS	61
	LOANS TO PARTICIPANTS	
11.02	TRANSFER OF INTEREST	62
ARTICLI	E XII - HEART ACT PROVISIONS	63
	DEATH BENEFITS	
	BENEFIT ACCRUAL	
12.03	DIFFERENTIAL WAGE PAYMENTS	63
12.04	DEEMED SEVERANCE	63

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS

As used in this Plan, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings set forth herein unless a different meaning is clearly required by the context:

- 1.01 "Administrator" means the Employer or such person(s) or entity designated by the Employer pursuant to Section 2.02 to administer the Plan on behalf of the Employer.
- 1.02 "Adoption Agreement" means the separate Agreement which is executed by the Employer and accepted by the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) and sets forth the elective provisions of this Plan and Trust as specified by the Employer.
- 1.03 "Affiliated Employer" means the Employer and any other entity that is required to be aggregated with the Employer under the provisions of the Code (or the Regulations or other IRS guidance) applicable to qualified retirement plans under Section 401(a) and/or Section 403(a) of the Code.
- 1.04 "Aggregate Account" means with respect to each Participant, the value of all accounts maintained on behalf of a Participant, whether attributable to Employer or Employee contributions.
 - 1.05 "Anniversary Date" means the anniversary date specified in the Adoption Agreement.
- 1.06 "Beneficiary" means any person to whom a share of a deceased Participant's interest in the Plan is payable, subject to Sections 6.02 and 6.06.
 - 1.07 "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended or replaced from time to time.
- 1.08 "Compensation" with respect to any Participant means one of the following definitions, as selected in the Adoption Agreement:
 - (a) Compensation on Form W-2. Compensation is defined as wages, as defined in Code Section 3401(a), and all other payments of Compensation to an Employee by the Employer (in the course of the Employer's trade or business) for which the Employer is required to furnish the Employee a written statement under Code Sections 6041(d),6051(a)(3) and 6052. Compensation must be determined without regard to any rules under Code Section 3401(a) that limit the remuneration included in wages based on the nature or location of the employment or the services performed (such as the exception for agricultural labor in Code Section 3401(a)(2)).
 - (b) Code Section 3401(a) Wages. Compensation is defined as wages within the meaning of Code Section 3401(a) for the purposes of income tax withholding at the source but determined without regard to any rules that limit the remuneration included in wages based on the nature or location of the employment or the services performed (such as the exception for agricultural labor in Code Section 3401(a)(2)).
 - (c) 415 Safe-Harbor Compensation. Compensation is defined as wages, salaries, and fees for professional services and other amounts received (without regard to whether or not an amount is paid in cash) for personal services actually rendered in the course of employment with the Employer maintaining the Plan to the extent that the amounts are includible in gross income (including, but not limited to, commissions paid salesmen, compensation for services on the basis of a percentage of profits, commissions on insurance premiums, tips, bonuses, fringe benefits, and reimbursements, or other expense allowances under a nonaccountable plan (as described in Regulation Section 1.62-2(c)), and excluding the following:
 - (1) Employer contributions to a plan of deferred compensation which are not includible in the Employee's gross income for the taxable year in which contributed, or Employer

contributions under a simplified employee pension plan to the extent such contributions are deductible by the Employee, or any distributions from a plan of deferred compensation;

- (2) Amounts realized from the exercise of a nonqualified stock option, or when restricted stock (or property) held by the Employee either becomes freely transferable or is no longer subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture;
- (3) Amounts realized from the sale, exchange or other disposition of stock acquired under a qualified stock option; and
- (4) Other amounts which received special tax benefits, or contributions made by the Employer (whether or not under a salary reduction agreement) towards the purchase of an annuity contract described in Section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code (whether or not the contributions are actually excludable from the gross income of the Employee).

If so elected in the Adoption Agreement, Compensation shall be adjusted, as set forth herein and as otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement, for the following types of compensation paid after a Participant's severance from employment with the Employer maintaining the Plan (or any other entity that is treated as the Employer pursuant to Code Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o)). However, amounts described in subsections (d) and (e) below may only be included in Compensation to the extent such amounts are paid by the later of 2 1/2 months after severance from employment or by the end of the limitation year that includes the date of such severance from employment. Any other payment of compensation paid after severance of employment that is not described in the following types of compensation is not considered Compensation, even if payment is made within the time period specified above.

- (d) Regular pay. Unless otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement, Compensation shall include regular pay after severance of employment if:
 - (1) The payment is regular compensation for services during the Participant's regular working hours, or compensation for services outside the Participant's regular working hours (such as overtime or shift differential), commissions, bonuses, or other similar payments; and
 - (2) The payment would have been paid to the Participant prior to a severance from employment if the participant had continued in employment with the Employer.
- (e) Leave cashouts and deferred compensation. Leave cashouts shall be included in Compensation, unless otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement, if those amounts would have been included in the definition of Compensation if they were paid prior to the participant's severance from employment, and the amounts are payment for unused accrued bona fide sick, vacation, or other leave, but only if the Participant would have been able to use the leave if employment had continued. In addition, deferred compensation shall be included in Compensation, unless otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement, if the compensation would have been included in the definition of Compensation if it had been paid prior to the participant's severance from employment, and the compensation is received pursuant to a nonqualified unfunded deferred compensation plan, but only if the payment would have been paid at the same time if the participant had continued in employment with the Employer and only to the extent that the payment is includible in the participant's gross income.
- (f) Salary continuation payments for military service participants. Compensation does not include, unless otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement, payments to an individual who does not currently perform services for the Employer by reason of qualified military service (as that term is used in Code Section 414(u)(1)) to the extent those payments do not exceed the amounts the individual would have received if the individual had continued to perform services for the Employer rather than entering qualified military service.

(g) Salary continuation payments for disabled Participants. Unless otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement, Compensation does not include compensation paid to a participant who is permanently and totally disabled (as defined in Code Section 22(e)(3)). If elected, this provision shall apply to all participants for the period specified in the Adoption Agreement.

In addition, if specified in the Adoption Agreement, Compensation for all Plan purposes shall also include any elective deferral (as defined in Code Section 402(g)(3)), and any amount which is contributed or deferred by the Employer at the election of the Employee and which is not includible in the gross income of the Employee by reason of Code Section 125 or 457, and 132(f)(4).

If specified in the Adoption Agreement, amounts under Code Section 125 include any amounts not available to a Participant in cash in lieu of group health coverage because the participant is unable to certify that he or she has other health coverage (deemed Code Section 125 compensation). An amount will be treated as an amount under Code Section 125 only if the Employer does not request or collect information regarding the Participant's other health coverage as part of the enrollment process for the health plan.

The annual compensation of each Participant taken into account in determining allocations for any Plan Year shall not exceed \$200,000, as adjusted for cost-of-living increases in accordance with Section 401(a)(17)(B) of the Code (the "annual compensation limit"). Annual compensation means Compensation during the Plan Year or such other consecutive 12-month period over which compensation is otherwise determined under the Plan (the determination period). The cost-of-living adjustment in effect for a calendar year applies to annual compensation for the determination period that begins with or within such calendar year. If a determination period consists of fewer than twelve (12) months, the "annual compensation limit" will be multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of months in the determination period, and the denominator of which is twelve (12).

Notwithstanding the previous paragraph, the "annual compensation limit" for "eligible participants" shall be the greater of (i) the "annual compensation limit" as described in the previous paragraph, or (ii) the amount of compensation that was allowed to be taken into account under the Plan as in effect on July 1, 1993. Therefore, if the Plan as in effect on July 1, 1993 determined benefits without any limit on compensation, then the "annual compensation limit" in effect under this Section 1.08 will not apply to any "eligible participant" in any future year. For purposes of this paragraph, an "eligible participant" is an individual who first became a participant in the Plan prior to the first day of the first Plan Year beginning after the earlier of: (i) the last day of the Plan Year by which a plan amendment to reflect the requirements of Section 13212 of the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1993 was both adopted and effective; or (ii) December 31, 1995. However, this paragraph shall not apply unless (i) the Plan was in effect on July 1, 1993, and (ii) the Plan was amended to incorporate by reference the annual compensation limitation under Section 401(a)(17) of the Code, effective (with respect to all participants other than the "eligible participants") for Plan Years beginning after December 31, 1995 (or earlier, if the Plan so provided). Any reference in any other section of this Plan to the limitation under Code Section 401(a)(17) shall mean the "annual compensation limit" set forth in this Section 1.08, but taking into account the special provisions of this paragraph.

Notwithstanding the following paragraph or any election in the Adoption Agreement, if the Plan is a 401(k) plan, then participants may not make elective deferrals with respect to amounts that are not 415 Compensation. However, for this purpose, 415 Compensation is not limited to the annual compensation limit of Code Section 401(a)(17).

Compensation for purposes of allocations (hereinafter referred to as Plan Compensation) shall be adjusted, unless otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement, in the same manner as 415 Compensation pursuant to Section 4.04, except in applying Section 4.04, the term "limitation year" shall be replaced with the term "plan year" and the term "415 Compensation" shall be replaced with the term "Plan Compensation."

The provisions of the two preceding paragraphs (and the provisions above regarding post-severance compensation) shall apply for Plan Years beginning more than ninety (90) days after the close of the first regular legislative session (of the legislative body with authority to amend the Plan) that begins on or after July 1, 2007, unless an earlier effective date is specified in the Adoption Agreement.

- 1.09 "Contract" means any annuity contract (group or individual) issued by the Insurer. In the event of any conflict between the terms of this Plan and the terms of any Contract purchased hereunder, the Plan provisions shall control.
- 1.10 "Designated Investment Alternative" means a specific investment identified by name by the Employer (or such other responsible party who has been given the authority to select investment options) as an available investment under the Plan in which Plan assets may be invested by the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) pursuant to the investment direction of the Participant.
- 1.11 "Directed Investment Option" means one or more of the following to be acquired or disposed of pursuant to the investment direction of a Participant:
 - (a) a Designated Investment Alternative as defined in Section 1.10, or
 - (b) any other investment permitted by the Plan and the Participant Direction Procedures as set forth in Section 4.09.
- 1.12 "Early Retirement Age" means the date at which the Participant satisfies the age or service requirement, selected in the Adoption Agreement, at which time a Participant's Account shall become fully vested.
- 1.13 "Employee" means any person who is employed by the Employer, but excludes any person who is providing services as an independent contractor. The term Employee shall also include Leased Employees as provided in Code Sections 414(n) or 414(o).

Employees of Affiliated Employers will not participate unless the Affiliated Employer becomes a Participating Employer as defined in Section 9.01.

- 1.14 "Employer" means the entity specified in the Adoption Agreement, any Participating Employer (as defined in Section 9.01) which shall adopt this Plan, any successor which shall maintain this Plan and any predecessor which has maintained this Plan.
 - 1.15 "Fiscal Year" means the Employer's accounting year as set forth in the Adoption Agreement.
- 1.16 "Forfeiture" means that portion of a Participant's Account that is not Vested, and occurs upon the distribution (or deemed distribution) of the entire Vested portion of a Participant's Account.

In the case of a Terminated Participant whose Vested benefit is zero, such Terminated Participant shall be deemed to have received a distribution of such Terminated Participant's Vested benefit upon termination of employment. In addition, the term Forfeiture shall also include amounts deemed to be Forfeitures pursuant to any other provision of this Plan.

- 1.17 "Former Participant" means a person who has been a Participant, but who has ceased to be a Participant for any reason.
- 1.18 "Hour of Service" means (1) each hour for which an Employee is directly or indirectly compensated or entitled to compensation by the Employer for the performance of duties during the applicable computation period; (2) each hour for which an Employee is directly or indirectly compensated or entitled to compensation by the Employer (irrespective of whether the employment relationship has terminated) for reasons other than performance of duties (such as vacation, holidays, sickness, jury duty, disability, lay-off, military duty or leave of absence) during the applicable computation period; (3) each hour for which back pay is awarded or agreed to by the Employer without regard to mitigation of damages. The same Hours of Service shall not be credited both under (1) or (2), as the case may be, and under (3). These hours will be credited to the Employee for the computation period or periods to which the award or agreement pertains rather than the computation period in which the award, agreement or payment is made.

Notwithstanding the above, (i) no more than 501 Hours of Service are required to be credited to an Employee on account of any single continuous period during which the Employee performs no duties (whether or not such period occurs in a single computation period); (ii) an hour for which an Employee is directly or indirectly paid, or entitled to payment, on account of a period during which no duties are performed is not required to be credited to the Employee if such payment is made or due under a plan maintained solely for the purpose of complying with applicable worker's compensation, or unemployment compensation or disability insurance laws; and (iii) Hours of Service are not required to be credited for a payment which solely reimburses an Employee for medical or medically related expenses incurred by the Employee.

For purposes of this Section, a payment shall be deemed to be made by or due from the Employer regardless of whether such payment is made by or due from the Employer directly, or indirectly through, among others, a trust fund, or insurer, to which the Employer contributes or pays premiums and regardless of whether contributions made or due to the trust fund, insurer, or other entity are for the benefit of particular Employees or are on behalf of a group of Employees in the aggregate.

Hours of Service must be counted for the purpose of determining a Year of Service, a year of participation for purposes of accruing benefits, a 1-Year Break in Service, and employment commencement date (or reemployment commencement date).

Hours of Service will be credited for employment with all Affiliated Employers and for any individual considered to be a Leased Employee pursuant to Code Sections 414(n) or 414(o) and the Regulations thereunder.

Hours of Service will be determined on the basis of the method selected in the Adoption Agreement. If "actual hours" is selected, an Employee shall be credited on the basis of actual hours for which such Employee is paid or entitled to payment. If "days worked" is selected, an Employee shall be credited with ten (10) Hours of Service if under the Plan such Employee would be credited with at least one Hour of Service during the day. If "months worked" is selected, an Employee will be credited with one hundred ninety (190) Hours of Service if under the Plan such Employee would be credited with at least one (1) Hour of Service during the month.

Hours of Service with any predecessor Employer which maintained this Plan shall be recognized. Hours of Service with any other predecessor Employer shall be recognized as specified in the Adoption Agreement.

- 1.19 "Insurer" means The Variable Annuity Life Insurance Company (VALIC) and any affiliate or subsidiary thereof, or any legal reserve insurance company which shall issue one or more Contracts under the Plan.
- 1.20 "Leased Employee" means any person (other than an Employee of the Employer) who pursuant to an agreement between the Employer and any other person ("leasing organization") has performed services for the Employer (or for the Employer and related persons determined in accordance with Code Section 414(n)(6)) on a substantially full-time basis for a period of at least one year, and such services are performed under primary direction or control by the Employer. Contributions or benefits provided a leased employee by the leasing organization which are attributable to services performed for the Employer shall be treated as provided by the Employer.

A leased employee shall not be considered an Employee of the Employer if:

- (a) such employee is covered by a money purchase pension plan providing:
- (1) a nonintegrated employer contribution rate of at least ten percent (10%) of compensation, as defined in Code Section 415(c)(3), but including amounts contributed pursuant to a salary reduction agreement which are excludable from the employee's gross income under Code Sections 125, 402(e)(3), 402(h)(1)(B) or 403(b), or for Plan Years beginning on or after January 1, 2001, 132(f)(4), and
 - (2) immediate participation, and

- (3) full and immediate vesting; and
- (b) leased employees do not constitute more than twenty percent (20%) of the Employer's nonhighly compensated workforce.
- 1.21 "Month of Service" means a calendar month during which an Employee completes at least one Hour of Service.
- 1.22 "Normal Retirement Age" means the date at which the Participant satisfies the age or service requirement specified in the Adoption Agreement, at which time a Participant's Account shall become fully Vested.
- 1.23 "1-Year Break in Service" means the applicable computation period specified in the Adoption Agreement during which an Employee has not completed more than one-half (1/2) of the number of Hours of Service specified in the Adoption Agreement for a Year of Service with the Employer. However, for purposes of provisions utilizing the elapsed time method, the term "1-Year Break in Service" means a 12-consecutive month period beginning on the severance from service date or any anniversary thereof and ending on the next succeeding anniversary of such date; provided, however, that the Employee during such 12-consecutive month period does not complete an Hour of Service.

Further, solely for the purpose of determining whether a Participant has incurred a 1-Year Break in Service, Hours of Service shall be recognized for "authorized leaves of absence" and "maternity and paternity leaves of absence."

"Authorized leave of absence" means an unpaid, temporary cessation from active employment with the Employer pursuant to an established nondiscriminatory policy, whether occasioned by illness, military service, or any other reason.

A "maternity or paternity leave of absence" means an absence from work for any period by reason of the Employee's pregnancy, birth of the Employee's child, placement of a child with the Employee in connection with the adoption of such child, or any absence for the purpose of caring for such child for a period immediately following such birth or placement. For this purpose, Hours of Service shall be credited for the computation period in which the absence from work begins, only if credit therefore is necessary to prevent the Employee from incurring a 1-Year Break in Service, or, in any other case, in the immediately following computation period. The Hours of Service credited for a "maternity or paternity leave of absence" shall be those which would normally have been credited but for such absence, or, in any case in which the Administrator is unable to determine such hours normally credited, eight (8) Hours of Service per day. The total Hours of Service required to be credited for a "maternity or paternity leave of absence" shall not exceed the number of Hours of Service needed to prevent the Employee from incurring a 1-Year Break in Service.

- 1.24 "Participant" means any Employee who has satisfied the requirements of Section 3.01 and has not become a Former Participant.
- 1.25 "Participant Direction Procedures" means such instructions, guidelines or policies, the terms of which are incorporated herein, as shall be established pursuant to Section 4.09 and observed by the Administrator and applied and provided to Participants who have Participant Directed Accounts.
- 1.26 "Participant('s) Account" means the account established and maintained by the Administrator for each Participant with respect to such Participant's total interest under the Plan resulting from the Employer's contributions. If this is a Profit Sharing Plan which includes assets transferred (other than by a rollover) from a Money Purchase Plan, then a separate accounting shall be maintained with respect to that portion of the Participant's Account attributable to the Money Purchase Plan.
- 1.27 "Part-time Employee" means any Employee who normally works twenty (20) hours or less per week. For purposes of this definition, a teacher employed by a post-secondary institution is not considered part-time

if the teacher normally teaches classroom hours of one-half or more of the number of classroom hours normally considered to be full time employment.

1.28 "Period of Service" means (except for periods of service which may be disregarded on account of the "rule of parity" described in Section 6.04(e)) the aggregate of all periods commencing with the Employee's first day of employment or reemployment with the Employer or Affiliated Employer and ending on the date a "Break in Service" begins. The first day of employment or reemployment is the first day the Employee performs an "Hour of Service." An Employee will also receive credit for any Period of Severance of less than twelve (12) consecutive months. Fractional periods of a year will be expressed in terms of days.

For purposes of this Section, "Hour of Service" means each hour for which an Employee is paid or entitled to payment for the performance of duties for the Employer and "Break in Service" means a Period of Severance of at least twelve (12) consecutive months.

Periods of Service with any predecessor Employer which maintained this Plan shall be recognized. Periods of Service with any other predecessor Employer shall be recognized as specified in the Adoption Agreement.

Periods of Service with any Affiliated Employer shall be recognized.

1.29 "Period of Severance" means a continuous period of time during which the Employee is not employed by the Employer. Such period begins on the date the Employee retires, quits or is discharged, or if earlier, the twelve (12) month anniversary of the date on which the Employee was otherwise first absent from service.

In the case of an individual who is absent from work for maternity or paternity reasons, the 12-consecutive month period beginning on the first anniversary of the first day of such absence shall not constitute a Period of Severance. For purposes of this paragraph, an absence from work for maternity or paternity reasons means an absence (a) by reason of the pregnancy of the individual, (b) by reason of the birth of a child of the individual, (c) by reason of the placement of a child with the individual in connection with the adoption of such child by such individual, or (d) for purposes of caring for such child for a period beginning immediately following such birth or placement.

1.30 "Plan" means this instrument (hereinafter referred to as VALIC Retirement Services Company Retirement Plan for Governmental Employers Basic Plan Document) including all amendments thereto, and the Adoption Agreement as adopted by the Employer.

This Plan is designed to qualify as a governmental plan as defined in Code Section 414(d). This Plan is established and maintained as a plan that is exempt from the requirements of Title I of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA), as provided by Section 4 of such statute. While some provisions of the Plan may mirror provisions of ERISA, such provisions are included for the benefit of the Participants and are not intended to provide ERISA status or ERISA rights to Participants or their Beneficiaries.

- 1.31 "Plan Year" means the Plan's accounting year as specified in the Adoption Agreement.
- 1.32 "Qualified Voluntary Employee Contribution Account" means the account established and maintained by the Administrator for each Participant with respect to such Participant's total interest under the Plan resulting from the Participant's tax-deductible qualified voluntary Employee contributions made pursuant to Section 4.08.
- 1.33 "Regulation" means the Income Tax Regulations as promulgated by the Secretary of the Treasury or such Secretary of the Treasury's delegate, and as amended from time to time.
- 1.34 "Reclassified Employee" means an individual (including, but not limited to, independent contractors, persons the Employer pays outside of its payroll system and out-sourced workers) the Employer does not treat as an Employee for federal income tax withholding purposes under Code Section 3401(a), but who is later

reclassified, pursuant to a binding determination by a court or a governmental entity (other than the Employer), as an Employee or a Leased Employee of the Employer.

- 1.35 "Retired Participant" means a person who has been a Participant, but who has become entitled to retirement benefits under the Plan.
- 1.36 "Retirement Date" means the date as of which a Participant retires for reasons other than Total and Permanent Disability, whether such retirement occurs on a Participant's Early or Normal Retirement age, or on a later date (see Section 6.01).
- 1.37 "Rollover Account" means the account established and maintained by the Administrator for each Employee with respect to such Employee's total interest in the Plan resulting from amounts transferred from another employer plan or individual retirement account in accordance with Section 4.06. A separate account will also be maintained for any prior voluntary (after-tax) Employee contributions of each Participant.
- 1.38 "Seasonal Employee" means any Employee who normally works on a full-time basis less than five (5) months in a year.
- 1.39 "Short Plan Year" means, if specified in the Adoption Agreement, that the Plan Year shall be less than a twelve (12) month period. If chosen, the following rules shall apply in the administration of this Plan. In determining whether an Employee has completed a Year of Service for benefit accrual purposes in the Short Plan Year, the number of the Hours of Service required shall be proportionately reduced based on the number of days in the Short Plan Year. In the event a Plan amendment changes a vesting computation period, the first vesting computation period established under such amendment shall begin before the last day of the preceding vesting computation period and an Employee who is credited with the requisite Hours of Service to be credited with a Year of Service for vesting purposes in both the vesting computation period under the Plan before the amendment and the first vesting computation period under the Plan as amended shall be credited with two (2) Years of Service for those vesting computation periods.
- 1.40 "Sick Leave Day" means a day (as determined under a separate plan or program maintained by the Employer or pursuant to applicable local or state law) for which the Employee is entitled to payment of one day's compensation by the Employer, when the Employee is physically or mentally unable to perform his or her duties or is otherwise absent from work for medical reasons.
- 1.41 "Special Pay Day" means accrued but unused Sick Leave Days or Vacation Pay Days, but only if such Special Pay Day represents leave for which the Employee has no right to request a cash payment.
 - "Tax-exempt" means exempt from Federal income tax under Code Section 501(a).
- 1.43 "Temporary Employee" means any Employee who performs services under a contractual arrangement that is expected to last two (2) years or less.
- 1.44 "Terminated Participant" means a person who has been a Participant, but whose employment has been terminated for any reason including death, Total and Permanent Disability or normal or early retirement.
- 1.45 "Total and Permanent Disability" means (unless the Employer elects a different definition in the Adoption Agreement) the inability to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment that can be expected to result in death or which has lasted or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months. The permanence and degree of such impairment shall be supported by medical evidence. The determination shall be applied uniformly to all Participants.
- 1.46 "Trustee" (applies only to trusteed portion of the Plan) means the person or entity, if any, named in the Adoption Agreement and any successors.

- 1.47 "Trust Fund" (applies only to trusteed portion of the Plan) means the assets of the Plan held in the Plan's Trust as the same shall exist from time to time.
- 1.48 "Vacation Pay Day" means a day (as determined under a separate plan or program maintained by the Employer or pursuant to applicable local or state law) for which the Employee is entitled to payment of one day's compensation by the Employer when the Employee is absent from work for vacation or holiday. Excluded from the term Vacation Pay Day is any day in which the Employee is entitled to the payment of compensation by the Employer while absent from work on account of jury duty, active military service, training or sabbatical.
- 1.49 "Valuation Date" means the Anniversary Date and each other date or dates deemed necessary or appropriate by the Administrator for the valuation of Participants' Accounts during the Plan Year, which may include any day that the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable), any transfer agent appointed by the Trustee or the Employer, or any stock exchange used by such agent, are open for business.
 - 1.50 "Vested" means the nonforfeitable portion of any account maintained on behalf of a Participant.
- 1.51 "Volume Submitter Practitioner" means VALIC Retirement Services Company, a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Variable Annuity Life Insurance Company ("VALIC").
- 1.52 "Voluntary Contribution Account" means the account established and maintained by the Administrator for each Participant with respect to such Participant's total interest in the Plan resulting from the Participant's nondeductible voluntary Employee contributions described in Section 4.07.
- 1.53 "Year of Service" means, except as otherwise specified in the Adoption Agreement and in the case of a Short Plan Year, the computation period of twelve (12) consecutive months, as herein set forth and in the Adoption Agreement, and during which an Employee has completed at least the number of Hours of Service specified in the Adoption Agreement.

The initial computation period shall begin with the date on which the Employee first performs an Hour of Service (employment commencement date). The computation period beginning after a 1-Year Break in Service shall be measured as elected in the Adoption Agreement. If an election is made to shift to the Plan Year, then after the initial computation period, the computation period shall shift to the current Plan Year which includes the anniversary of the date on which the Employee first performed an Hour of Service. An Employee who is credited with the number of Hours of Service specified in the Adoption Agreement in both the initial computation period and the first Plan Year which commences prior to the first anniversary of the Employee's initial computation period, will be credited with two Years of Service.

Years of Service and breaks in service will be measured on the same computation period.

Years of Service with any predecessor Employer which maintained this Plan shall be recognized. Years of Service with any other predecessor Employer shall be recognized as specified in the Adoption Agreement.

Years of Service with any Affiliated Employer shall be recognized.

Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, contributions, benefits and service credit with respect to qualified military service will be provided in accordance with Code Section 414(u).

ARTICLE II ADMINISTRATION

2.01 POWERS AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE EMPLOYER

- (a) The Employer shall be empowered to appoint and remove the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable), and Administrator from time to time as it deems necessary for the proper administration of the Plan to assure that the Plan is being operated for the exclusive benefit of the Participants and their Beneficiaries in accordance with the terms of the Plan and the Code.
- (b) The Employer shall periodically review the performance of the Trustee, the Plan Administrator, or any other person to whom duties have been delegated or allocated by it under the provisions of this Plan or pursuant to procedures established hereunder. This requirement may be satisfied by formal periodic review by the Employer or by a qualified person specifically designated by the Employer, through day-to-day conduct and evaluation, or through other appropriate ways.
- Unless the Employer has elected to have a discretionary Trustee, the Employer (or its delegate) shall have the power and authority to select and monitor the investment alternatives under the Plan. Furthermore, unless the Employer elects under Section 4.09 to allow Participants to direct the investment of their Accounts, the Employer (or its delegate) shall direct the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) with respect to the investment of their accounts, the Employer elects under Section 4.09 to allow Participants to direct the investment of their accounts, the Employer shall direct the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) with respect to the investment of any contributions which are forwarded to the Insurer (or Trustee) prior to the date on which the Participant completes the necessary paperwork with the Insurer or Trustee or takes such other action or actions as may be necessary to direct the investment of such amounts. Such direction shall be communicated to the Insurer (or Trustee) by means of an Employer-Directed Account Agreement between the Employer and the Insurer (or Trustee), which agreement will include a default investment option and a default beneficiary designation. This direction shall be effective only until such time as such Participant exercises his or her right to direct the investment of such amounts.

2.02 DESIGNATION OF ADMINISTRATIVE AUTHORITY

The Administrator of the Plan shall be the Employer unless the Employer appoints another person to serve as Administrator. Any person, including, but not limited to, the Employees of the Employer, shall be eligible to serve as an Administrator. Any person so appointed shall signify acceptance by filing written acceptance with the Employer. An Administrator may resign by delivering a written resignation to the Employer or be removed by the Employer by delivery of written notice of removal, to take effect at a date specified therein, or upon delivery to the Administrator if no date is specified.

The Employer, upon the resignation or removal of an Administrator, shall promptly designate in writing a successor to this position. If the Employer does not appoint an Administrator, the Employer will function as the Administrator.

2.03 ALLOCATION AND DELEGATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES

If more than one person is appointed as Administrator, the responsibilities of each Administrator may be specified by the Employer and accepted in writing by each Administrator. In the event that no such delegation is made by the Employer, the Administrators may allocate the responsibilities among themselves, in which event the Administrators shall notify the Employer and the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) in writing of such action and specify the responsibilities of each Administrator. The Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) thereafter shall accept and rely upon any documents executed by the appropriate Administrator until such time as the Employer or the Administrators file with the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) a written revocation of such designation.

2.04 POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE ADMINISTRATOR

The primary responsibility of the Administrator is to administer the Plan for the exclusive benefit of the Participants and their Beneficiaries, subject to the specific terms of the Plan. The Administrator shall administer the Plan in accordance with its terms and shall have the power and discretion to construe the terms of the Plan and determine all questions arising in connection with the administration, interpretation, and application of the Plan. Any such determination by the Administrator shall be conclusive and binding upon all persons. The Administrator may establish procedures, correct any defect, supply any information, or reconcile any inconsistency in such manner and to such extent as shall be deemed necessary or advisable to carry out the purpose of the Plan; provided, however, that any procedure, discretionary act, interpretation or construction shall be done in a nondiscriminatory manner based upon uniform principles consistently applied and shall be consistent with the intent that the Plan shall continue to be deemed a qualified plan under the terms of Code Sections 401(a) or 403(a), as amended from time to time. The Administrator shall have all powers necessary or appropriate to accomplish its duties under this Plan.

The Administrator shall be charged with the duties of the general administration of the Plan, including, but not limited to, the following:

- (a) to determine in the Administrator's sole discretion, all questions relating to the eligibility of Employees to participate or remain a Participant hereunder and to receive benefits under the Plan;
- (b) to compute, certify, and direct the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) with respect to the amount and the kind of benefits to which any Participant shall be entitled hereunder;
- (c) to authorize and direct the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) with respect to all nondiscretionary or otherwise directed disbursements from the Plan assets;
 - (d) to maintain all necessary records for the administration of the Plan;
- (e) to interpret the provisions of the Plan and to make and publish such rules for regulation of the Plan as are consistent with the terms hereof:
- (f) to compute and certify to the Employer from time to time the sums of money necessary or desirable to be contributed to the Plan;
- (g) to consult with the Employer and to direct the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) regarding the short- and long-term liquidity needs of the Plan in order to implement those objectives;
- (h) if the Employer elects to allow Participants to direct the investment of their accounts under the Plan, to act as the party responsible for communications with Participants, including, but not limited to, the receipt and transmitting of Participants' directions as to the investment of their accounts under the Plan and the formulation of policies, rules, and procedures pursuant to which Participants may give investment instructions with respect to the investment of their accounts;
- (i) to assist Participants regarding their rights, benefits, or elections available under the Plan; and
- (j) to determine the validity of, and take appropriate action with respect to, any domestic relations order received by it.

2.05 RECORDS AND REPORTS

The Administrator shall keep a record of all actions taken and shall keep all other books of account, records, and other data that may be necessary for proper administration of the Plan and shall be responsible for supplying all information and reports to the Internal Revenue Service, Participants, Beneficiaries and others as required by law.

2.06 APPOINTMENT OF ADVISERS

The Administrator may appoint counsel, specialists, advisers, and other persons as the Administrator deems necessary or desirable in connection with the administration of this Plan, including, but not limited to, advisers to assist with the administration and management of the Plan, and thereby to provide, among such other duties as the Administrator may appoint, assistance with maintaining Plan records and the providing of investment information to the Plan's Fiduciaries and to Plan Participants.

2.07 INFORMATION FROM EMPLOYER

To enable the Administrator to perform its functions, the Employer shall supply full and timely information to the Administrator on all matters relating to the Compensation of all Participants, their Hours of Service, their Years of Service or Periods of Service, their retirement, death, disability, or termination of employment, and such other pertinent facts as the Administrator may require; and the Administrator shall advise the Insurer (and/or the Trustee if applicable) of such of the foregoing facts as may be pertinent to the Insurer's (or the Trustee's) duties under the Plan. The Administrator may rely upon such information as is supplied by the Employer and shall have no duty or responsibility to verify such information as may be provided by the Administrator, and shall have no duty or responsibility to verify such information.

2.08 PAYMENT OF CONTRACT FEES

All fees and charges relating to any Contracts issued pursuant to the Plan shall be paid from the portion of the Participant's Account that is invested in such Contracts unless the Employer and the Insurer agree for such expenses to be paid by the Employer.

2.09 PAYMENT OF EXPENSES

Expenses of administration may be paid out of the Plan assets unless paid by the Employer. Such expenses shall include any expenses incident to the functioning of the Administrator, including, but not limited to, fees of accountants, counsel, and other specialists and their agents, and other costs of administering the Plan. Until paid, the expenses shall constitute a liability of the Plan. Contract fees shall be paid in accordance with Section 2.08.

2.10 MAJORITY ACTIONS

Except where there has been an allocation and delegation of administrative authority pursuant to Section 2.03, if there shall be more than one Administrator, they shall act by a majority of their number, but may authorize one or more of them to sign all papers on their behalf.

2.11 CLAIMS PROCEDURE

Claims for benefits under the Plan may be filed in writing with the Administrator. Notice of the disposition of a claim shall be provided to the claimant within ninety (90) days after the claim is filed. If the claim is denied, the claimant must follow the claims review procedures in Section 2.12 before the claimant may take any legal action against the Plan.

2.12 CLAIMS REVIEW PROCEDURE

Any Participant, former Participant, or Beneficiary of either, who has been denied a benefit by a decision of the Administrator pursuant to Section 2.11 shall be entitled to request the Administrator to give further consideration to a claim by filing with the Administrator a written request for review of the claim (i.e., an appeal). Such request, together with a written statement of the reasons why the claimant believes such claims should be allowed, shall be filed with the Administrator no later than sixty (60 days) after receipt of the notification provided for in Section 2.11. A final decision as to the allowance of the claim shall be made by the Administrator and communicated to the claimant within ninety (90) days of receipt of the written appeal (unless there has been an extension of up to ninety

(90) days due to special circumstances, provided the delay and communicated to the claimant within the ninety (90) day period).	the	special	circumstances	occasioning	it	are

ARTICLE III ELIGIBILITY

3.01 CONDITIONS OF ELIGIBILITY

Any Employee who is not in an excluded classification of Employees (as set forth in the Adoption Agreement) shall be eligible to participate hereunder on the date such Employee has satisfied the age and service requirements specified in the Adoption Agreement. However, if this Plan is a restatement or amendment of a prior plan, any Employee who was a Participant in the Plan prior to the effective date of this amendment or restatement shall continue to be a Participant. No minimum age or service is required for contributions under Section G.3.b. of the Adoption Agreement, on behalf of Part-time, Seasonal and Temporary Employees.

For purposes of this section and any Adoption Agreement elections, the term "union employees" refers to Employees whose employment is governed by a collective bargaining agreement between the Employer and "employee representatives" under which retirement benefits were the subject of good faith bargaining. The term "non-resident aliens" refers to Employees who are non-resident aliens (within the meaning of Code Section 7701(b)(1)(B)) who received no earned income (within the meaning of Code Section 911(d)(2)) from the Employer which constitutes income from sources within the United States (within the meaning of Code Section 861(a)(3)). The term "reclassified employees" refers to workers who are treated by the Employer as Leased Employees or independent contractors but are later determined to be common law Employees of the Employer.

For purposes of this section and any Adoption Agreement elections, the term "elapsed time crediting method" means that service for purposes of eligibility or vesting will be based on Periods of Service (as defined in Section 1.28) and Periods of Severance (as defined in Section 1.29).

3.02 EFFECTIVE DATE OF PARTICIPATION

An Employee shall become a Participant as of the Effective Date of Participation specified in the Adoption Agreement. If said Employee is not employed on such date, but is reemployed before a 1-Year Break in Service has occurred, then such Employee shall become a Participant on the date of reemployment or, if later, the date the Employee would have otherwise entered the Plan had the Employee not terminated employment.

If an Employee, who has satisfied the Plan's age and service requirements and would otherwise have become a Participant, shall change from an excluded classification of Employees to an included classification of Employees, such Employee shall become a Participant on the date such Employee is no longer in an excluded classification of Employees.

If an Employee, who has satisfied the Plan's age and service requirements and would otherwise have become a Participant, shall become a member of an excluded classification of Employees and has not incurred a 1-Year Break in Service, such Employee shall become a Participant on the date such Employee again is not a member of an excluded classification of Employees. If such Employee does incur a 1-Year Break in Service, eligibility will be determined under the rules in Section 6.04(e).

3.03 DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY

The Administrator shall determine the eligibility of each Employee for participation in the Plan. Such determination shall be conclusive and binding upon all persons, as long as the same is made pursuant to the Plan. Such determination shall be subject to review pursuant to Section 2.11.

3.04 TERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY

In the event a Participant shall become a member of an excluded classification of Employees, such Former Participant shall continue to vest in the Plan for each Year of Service (or Period of Service if the Elapsed Time Method is used) completed until such time as the Participant's Account shall be forfeited or distributed pursuant to

the terms of the Plan. Additionally, the Former Participant's interest in the Plan shall continue to share in the earnings.

3.05 ELECTION NOT TO PARTICIPATE

An Employee may, subject to the approval of the Employer, elect voluntarily not to participate in the Plan. The election not to participate must be communicated to the Employer, in writing, at least thirty (30) days before the beginning of a Plan Year. However, if the Employer elects, in Section G.3.b. of the Adoption Agreement, to make contributions for Part-time, Seasonal and Temporary Employees, such Employees may not elect not to participate. Furthermore, the foregoing election not to participate must be irrevocable and made either at Plan inception or when the Employee is first eligible to participate.

ARTICLE IV CONTRIBUTION AND ALLOCATION

4.01 FORMULA FOR DETERMINING EMPLOYER'S CONTRIBUTION

(a) For a Money Purchase Plan –

On behalf of each Participant eligible to share in allocations, for each year of such Participant's participation in this Plan, the Employer shall contribute the amount specified in the Adoption Agreement. All contributions by the Employer shall be made in cash.

(b) For a Profit Sharing Plan –

For each Plan Year, the Employer, in its sole discretion, may contribute to the Plan such amount as specified in the Adoption Agreement, which may be either a discretionary amount (to be determined in the Employer's sole discretion) or a fixed dollar or percentage amount. All contributions by the Employer shall be made in cash.

(c) 414(h) pick up contributions –

If selected in the Adoption Agreement, eligible Employees who become Participants under this Plan in accordance with the provisions of Article III shall be deemed to have authorized the Employer to deduct from such Participant's Compensation, prior to its payment, a percentage of such Participant's Compensation, as a nonelective contribution to the Plan. The amount of the nonelective contribution shall be picked up by the Participant's Employer as provided for in Section 414(h)(2) of the Code. The Participant shall not have the option to receive this picked up contribution directly and such contributions shall be paid by the Employer directly to the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable).

(d) Employer matching contributions –

If specified in the Adoption Agreement, the Employer shall make a matching contribution equal to the percentage of elective deferrals specified for each Participant eligible to share in the allocations of the matching contribution. The Employer must specify in the Adoption Agreement the plan to which the elective deferral contributions being matched shall be made.

(e) Contributions for Part-time, Seasonal and Temporary Employees –

If specified in the Adoption Agreement, the Employer shall make a contribution in the amount of 7.5% of Compensation, reduced by Employee Nonelective Contributions, for each Participant who is also a Part-time, Seasonal or Temporary Employee.

(f) Special Pay contributions –

If specified in the Adoption Agreement, the Employer shall make a nonelective "leave conversion" contribution for each Participant eligible to share in such contributions equal to the Participant's current daily rate of pay multiplied by the number of unused accumulated Special Pay days that the Participant has accumulated, as of the end of the Plan Year, in excess of the minimum number of Special Pay days set forth in the Adoption Agreement. The Employer may elect in the Adoption Agreement to make such Special Pay contributions on account of accumulated Vacation Pay Days, accumulated Sick Leave Days, or both Vacation Pay Days and Sick Leave Days. The Employer may also elect, in the Adoption Agreement, to convert unused accumulated Special Pay Days to employer Special Pay contributions each Plan Year (including the Plan Year in which the Participant terminates employment with the Employer), or solely in the Plan Year in which the Participant terminates employment.

(g) Offset for contributions to certain merged plans –

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan or the Adoption Agreement, if one or more qualified defined contribution plans ("Merged Plans") is/are merged into (or onto) this Plan after the first day of a Plan Year, any Employer contribution obligation under this Section 4.01 and/or Section G of the Adoption Agreement for the Plan Year of the merger that is based on a Participant's Compensation for the entire Plan Year shall be offset by any substantially similar Employer contributions that are made to, or on account of, the Merged Plans for such Plan Year.

4.02 TIME OF PAYMENT OF EMPLOYER'S CONTRIBUTION

The Employer shall pay to the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) its contribution to the Plan as soon as administratively feasible, but no later than the time required by law to be considered an Annual Addition (as defined in Section 4.04(d)) for the Plan Year to which the Employer contribution is attributed. For purposes of this section, contributions must be made to the Plan no later than the 15th day of the tenth calendar month following the end of the Plan Year with or within which the limitation year ends, or such other time as specified under Code Section 415 and the Regulations thereunder.

4.03 ALLOCATION OF CONTRIBUTIONS, FORFEITURES AND EARNINGS

- (a) The Administrator shall establish and maintain an account in the name of each Participant to which the Administrator shall credit, as of each Anniversary Date, or other Valuation Date, all amounts allocated to each such Participant as set forth herein.
- (b) The Employer shall provide the Administrator with all information required by the Administrator to make a proper allocation of the Employer's contributions, if any, for each Plan Year. Within a reasonable period of time after the date of receipt by the Administrator of such information, the Administrator shall allocate such contribution as follows:

(1) For a Money Purchase Plan:

- (i) The Employer's contribution shall be allocated to each Participant's Account in the manner set forth in Section 4.01 herein and as specified in the Adoption Agreement.
- (ii) Except, however, if elected in the Adoption Agreement for any Plan Year, the Employer shall not contribute on behalf of a Participant who performs less than the Hours of Service set forth in the Adoption Agreement during any Plan Year. The Employer may not make such an election for Employer nonelective contributions (other than matching contributions) if the Employer has elected to make Special Pay contributions.

(2) For a Profit Sharing Plan:

(i) If the Employer elects (in the Adoption Agreement) a discretionary profit sharing contribution formula, the Employer's contribution shall be allocated to each Participant's Account in the same proportion that each such Participant's Compensation for the Plan Year bears to the total Compensation of all Participants for such Plan Year. If the Employer elects (in the Adoption Agreement) a fixed profit sharing contribution formula, the Employer's contribution shall be allocated in accordance with such formula. In the event that the Employer elects (in the Adoption Agreement) to make separate discretionary contributions for separate classifications of Participants, the Employer will annually notify the Trustee (or Insurer), in writing, of the amounts of the contribution(s), if any, that it is making for each classification of Participants described in the Adoption Agreement for the Plan Year. The Plan Administrator will allocate and credit for the Plan Year the Employer contribution (and forfeitures, if any) for a particular classification to the account of each Participant within

the classification who is entitled to a contribution for the Plan Year in the manner selected in the Adoption Agreement.

- (ii) Except, however, if elected in the Adoption Agreement, a Participant who performs less than the Hours of Service set forth in the Adoption Agreement during any Plan Year shall not share in the Employer's contribution for that Plan Year. The Employer may not make such an election for Employer nonelective contributions (other than matching contributions) if the Employer has elected to make Special Pay Contributions.
- (3) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, any Participant who terminated employment during the Plan Year shall or shall not share in the allocations of the Employer's contributions and Forfeitures, based on whether the Participant completed the requirements set forth in the Adoption Agreement.
- (c) Except as provided in Section 4.09(b), as of each Anniversary Date or other Valuation Date, before allocation of Employer contributions and Forfeitures, any earnings or losses (net appreciation or net depreciation) in the value of the Plan's assets (exclusive of assets segregated for distribution) shall be allocated in the same proportion that each Participant's and Former Participant's nonsegregated accounts bear to the total of all Participants' and Former Participants' nonsegregated accounts as of such date. If any nonsegregated account of a Participant has been distributed prior to the Anniversary Date or other Valuation Date subsequent to a Participant's termination of employment, no earnings or losses shall be credited to such account.
- (d) Participants' Accounts shall be debited for annuity payments made, if any, and credited with any dividends or interest earned on Contracts.
- (e) As of each Anniversary Date any amounts which became Forfeitures since the last Anniversary Date shall first be made available to satisfy any contribution that may be required pursuant to Section 6.09 or be used to pay any administrative expenses of the Plan. The remaining Forfeitures, if any, shall be treated in accordance with the Adoption Agreement. Provided, however, that in the event the allocation of Forfeitures provided herein shall cause the "Annual Addition" (as defined in Section 4.04) to any Participant's Account to exceed the amount allowable by the Code, the excess shall be reallocated in accordance with Section 4.04(a)(4). Except, however, if elected in the Adoption Agreement, a Participant who fails to satisfy the conditions set forth in the Adoption Agreement during any Plan Year shall not share in the Plan Forfeitures for that year.
- (f) If a Former Participant is reemployed after five (5) consecutive 1-Year Breaks in Service, then separate accounts shall be maintained as follows:
 - (1) one account for nonforfeitable benefits attributable to pre-break service; and
 - (2) one account representing the Former Participant's employer derived account balance in the Plan attributable to post-break service.

4.04 MAXIMUM ANNUAL ADDITIONS

(a) (1) If the Participant does not participate in, and has never participated in another qualified plan maintained by the Employer, or a welfare benefit fund (as defined in Code Section 419(e)), maintained by the Employer, or an individual medical account (as defined in Code Section 415(l)(2)) maintained by the Employer, or a simplified employee pension, as defined in Code Section 408(k), maintained by the Employer which provides "Annual Additions," the amount of "Annual Additions" which may be credited to the Participant's Accounts for any "Limitation Year" shall not exceed the lesser of the "Maximum Permissible Amount" or any other limitation contained in this Plan. If the Employer contribution that would otherwise be contributed or

allocated to the Participant's accounts would cause the "Annual Additions" for the "Limitation Year" to exceed the "Maximum Permissible Amount," the amount contributed or allocated will be reduced so that the "Annual Additions" for the "Limitation Year" will equal the "Maximum Permissible Amount."

- (2) Prior to determining the Participant's actual "415 Compensation" for the "Limitation Year," the Employer may determine the "Maximum Permissible Amount" for a Participant on the basis of a reasonable estimation of the Participant's "415 Compensation" for the "Limitation Year," uniformly determined for all Participants.
- (3) As soon as is administratively feasible after the end of the "Limitation Year," the "Maximum Permissible Amount" for such "Limitation Year" shall be determined on the basis of the Participant's actual "415 Compensation" for such "Limitation Year."
- (b) (1) This subsection (b) applies if, in addition to this Plan, the Participant is covered under another qualified defined contribution plan maintained by the Employer, or a welfare benefit fund (as defined in Code Section 419(e)) maintained by the Employer, or an individual medical account (as defined in Code Section 415(1)(2)) maintained by the Employer, or a simplified employee pension as defined in Code Section 408(k) maintained by the Employer which provides "Annual Additions" during any "Limitation Year." The "Annual Additions" which may be credited to a Participant's accounts under this Plan for any such "Limitation Year" shall not exceed the "Maximum Permissible Amount" reduced by the "Annual Additions" credited to a Participant's accounts under the other plans and welfare benefit funds, individual medical accounts, and simplified employee pensions for the same "Limitation Year." If the "Annual Additions" with respect to the Participant under other defined contribution plans, welfare benefit funds, individual medical accounts and simplified employee pensions maintained by the Employer are less than the "Maximum Permissible Amount" and the Employer contribution that would otherwise be contributed or allocated to the Participant's accounts under this Plan would cause the "Annual Additions" for the "Limitation Year" to exceed this limitation, the amount contributed or allocated will be reduced so that the "Annual Additions" under all such plans and welfare benefit funds for the "Limitation Year" will equal the "Maximum Permissible Amount." If the "Annual Additions" with respect to the Participant under such other defined contribution plans, welfare benefit funds, individual medical accounts and simplified employee pensions in the aggregate are equal to or greater than the "Maximum Permissible Amount," no amount will be contributed or allocated to the Participant's account under this Plan for the "Limitation Year."
- (2) Prior to determining the Participant's actual "415 Compensation" for the "Limitation Year," the Employer may determine the "Maximum Permissible Amount" for a Participant in the manner described in Section 4.04(a)(2).
- (3) As soon as is administratively feasible after the end of the "Limitation Year," the "Maximum Permissible Amount" for the "Limitation Year" will be determined on the basis of the Participant's actual "415 Compensation" for the "Limitation Year."
- (4) If, pursuant to Section 4.04(b)(3) or Section 4.05, a Participant's "Annual Additions" under this Plan and such other plans would result in an "Excess Amount" for a "Limitation Year," the "Excess Amount" will be deemed to consist of the "Annual Additions" last allocated, except that "Annual Additions" attributable to a simplified employee pension will be deemed to have been allocated first, followed by "Annual Additions" to a welfare benefit fund or individual medical account, and then by "Annual Additions" to a plan subject to Code Section 412, regardless of the actual allocation date.
- (5) If an "Excess Amount" was allocated to a Participant on an allocation date of this Plan which coincides with an allocation date of another plan, the "Excess Amount" attributed to this Plan will be the product of:

- (i) the total "Excess Amount" allocated as of such date, times;
- (ii) the ratio of (1) the "Annual Additions" allocated to the Participant for the "Limitation Year" as of such date under this Plan to (2) the total "Annual Additions" allocated to the Participant for the "Limitation Year" as of such date under this and all the other qualified defined contribution plans.
- (6) Any "Excess Amount" attributed to this Plan will be disposed in the manner described in Section 4.04(a)(4).
- (c) For purposes of applying the limitations of Code Section 415, the transfer of funds from one qualified plan to another is not an "Annual Addition." In addition, the following are not Employee contributions for the purposes of Section 4.04(d)(1):
 - (1) rollover contributions (as defined in Code Sections 402(c)(4), 403(a)(4), 403(b)(8), 408(d)(3) and 457(e)(16)); and
 - (2) Employee contributions to a simplified employee pension excludable from gross income under Code Section 408(k)(6).
 - (d) For purposes of this Section, the following terms shall be defined as follows:
 - (1) "Annual Additions" means the sum credited to a Participant's accounts for any Limitation Year of:
 - (i) Employer contributions (including elective deferrals and Employee nonelective contributions that are picked up pursuant to Section 414(h) of the Code);
 - (ii) Employee (after-tax) contributions;
 - (iii) Forfeitures;
 - (iv) amounts allocated, after March 31, 1984, to an individual medical account, as defined in Code Section 415(l)(2), which is part of a pension or annuity plan maintained by the Employer;
 - (v) amounts derived from contributions paid or accrued after December 31, 1985, in taxable years ending after such date, which are attributable to post-retirement medical benefits allocated to the separate account of a key employee (as defined in Code Section 419A(d)(3)) under a welfare benefit fund (as defined in Code Section 419(e)) maintained by the Employer; and
 - (vi) allocations under a simplified employee pension.

Except, however, the 415 Compensation percentage limitation referred to in paragraph (e)(7)(ii) below shall not apply to:

- (1) any contribution for medical benefits (within the meaning of Code Section 419A(f)(2)) after separation from service which is otherwise treated as an "Annual Addition," or
- (2) any amount otherwise treated as an "Annual Addition" under Code Section 415(1)(1).

For this purpose, any "Excess Amount" applied under Sections 4.04(a)(4) and 4.04(b)(6) in the "Limitation Year" to reduce Employer contributions shall be considered "Annual Additions" for such "Limitation Year."

Effective for Limitation Years beginning more than ninety (90) days after the close of the first regular legislative session (of the legislative body with authority to amend the Plan) that begins on or after July 1, 2007, the Plan's definition of "Annual Additions" is modified as follows:

- Restorative payments. Annual additions for purposes of Code Section 415 shall not include restorative payments. A restorative payment is a payment made to restore losses to a plan resulting from actions by a fiduciary for which there is reasonable risk of liability for breach of a fiduciary duty under applicable federal or state law, where participants who are similarly situated are treated similarly with respect to the payments. Generally, payments are restorative payments only if the payments are made in order to restore some or all of the plan's losses due to an action (or a failure to act) that creates a reasonable risk of liability for such a breach of fiduciary duty (other than a breach of fiduciary duty arising from failure to remit contributions to the plan). This includes payments to a plan made pursuant to a court approved settlement to restore losses to a qualified defined contribution plan on account of the breach of fiduciary duty (other than a breach of fiduciary duty arising from failure to remit contributions to the plan). Payments made to the Plan to make up for losses due merely to market fluctuations and other payments that are not made on account of a reasonable risk of liability for breach of a fiduciary duty are not restorative payments and generally constitute contributions that are considered Annual Additions.
- (2) Other Amounts. Annual additions for purposes of Code Section 415 shall not include: (i) The direct transfer of a benefit or employee contributions from a qualified plan to this Plan; (ii) Rollover contributions (as described in Code Section 401(a)(31), 402(c)(1), 403(a)(4), 403(b)(8), 408(d)(3), and 457(e)(16)); (iii) Repayments of loans made to a participant from the Plan; and (iv) Repayments of amounts described in Code Section 411(a)(7)(B) (in accordance with Code § 411(a)(7)(C)) and Code Section 411(a)(3)(D) or repayment of contributions to a governmental plan (as defined in Code Section 414(d)) as described in Code Section 415(k)(3), as well as Employer restorations of benefits that are required pursuant to such repayments.
- (3) Date of tax-exempt Employer contributions. Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, in the case of an Employer that is exempt from Federal income tax (including a governmental employer), Employer contributions are treated as credited to a Participant's Account for a particular Limitation Year only if the contributions are actually made to the Plan no later than the 15th day of the tenth calendar month following the end of the calendar year or fiscal year (as applicable, depending on the basis on which the Employer keeps its books) with or within which the particular Limitation Year ends.
- (2) "415 Compensation" means a Participant's Compensation as elected in the Adoption Agreement. However, regardless of any selection made in the Adoption Agreement, 415 Compensation shall include any elective deferral (as defined in Code Section 402(g)(3)), and any amount which is contributed or deferred by the Employer at the election of the Employee and which is not includible in the gross income of the Employee by reason of Sections 125, 457, and 132(f)(4). Any exclusions from Compensation selected in the Adoption Agreement shall not apply for purposes of the definition of 415 Compensation.

Effective for Limitation Years beginning more than ninety (90) days after the close of the first regular legislative session (of the legislative body with authority to amend the Plan) that begins on or after July 1, 2007, 415 Compensation shall be adjusted, as set forth herein and as otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement, for the following types of compensation paid after a Participant's severance from employment with the Employer maintaining the Plan (or any other entity that is treated as the Employer pursuant to Code Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o)). However, amounts described in subsections (i) and (ii) below may only be included in 415 Compensation to the extent such amounts are paid by the later of 2 1/2 months after severance from employment or by the end of the limitation year that includes the date of such severance from employment. Any other payment of compensation paid after severance of employment that is not described in the following types of compensation is not considered 415 Compensation within the meaning of Code Section 415(c)(3), even if payment is made within the time period specified above.

- (i) Regular pay. 415 Compensation shall include regular pay after severance of employment if:
 - (1) The payment is regular compensation for services during the participant's regular working hours, or compensation for services outside the participant's regular working hours (such as overtime or shift differential), commissions, bonuses, or other similar payments; and
 - (2) The payment would have been paid to the participant prior to a severance from employment if the participant had continued in employment with the Employer.
- (ii) Leave cashouts and deferred compensation. Leave cashouts shall be included in 415 Compensation, unless otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement, if those amounts would have been included in the definition of 415 Compensation if they were paid prior to the participant's severance from employment, and the amounts are payment for unused accrued bona fide sick, vacation, or other leave, but only if the participant would have been able to use the leave if employment had continued. In addition, deferred compensation shall be included in 415 Compensation, unless otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement, if the compensation would have been included in the definition of 415 Compensation if it had been paid prior to the participant's severance from employment, and the compensation is received pursuant to a nonqualified unfunded deferred compensation plan, but only if the payment would have been paid at the same time if the participant had continued in employment with the Employer and only to the extent that the payment is includible in the participant's gross income.
- (iii) Salary continuation payments for military service participants. 415 Compensation does not include, unless otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement, payments to an individual who does not currently perform services for the Employer by reason of qualified military service (as that term is used in Code Section 414(u)(1)) to the extent those payments do not exceed the amounts the individual would have received if the individual had continued to perform services for the Employer rather than entering qualified military service.
- (iv) Salary continuation payments for disabled Participants. Unless otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement, 415 Compensation does not include compensation paid to a participant who is permanently and totally disabled (as defined in Code Section 22(e)(3)). If elected, this provision shall apply to all participants for the period specified in the Adoption Agreement.
- 415 Compensation for a Limitation Year shall not include, unless otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement, amounts earned but not paid during the limitation year solely because of the timing of pay periods and pay dates. However, if elected in the Adoption Agreement, 415

Compensation for a limitation year shall include amounts earned but not paid during the limitation year solely because of the timing of pay periods and pay dates, provided the amounts are paid during the first few weeks of the next limitation year, the amounts are included on a uniform and consistent basis with respect to all similarly situated participants, and no compensation is included in more than one limitation year.

If the Plan's definition of Compensation for purposes of Code Section 415 is the definition in Regulation Section 1.415(c)-2(b) (Regulation Section 1.415-2(d)(2) under the Regulations in effect for Limitation Years beginning prior to July 1, 2007) and the simplified compensation definition of Regulation Section 1.415(c)-2(d)(2) (Regulation Section 1.415-2(d)(10) under the Regulations in effect for Limitation Years prior to July 1, 2007) is not used, then 415 Compensation shall include amounts that are includible in the gross income of a Participant under the rules of Code Section 409A or Code Section 457(f)(1)(A) or because the amounts are constructively received by the Participant. [Note if the Plan's definition of Compensation is W-2 wages or wages for withholding purposes, then these amounts are already included in Compensation.]

- (3) "Defined Contribution Dollar Limitation" means \$40,000 (as adjusted for increases in the cost-of-living under Code Section 415(d)).
- (4) "Employer" means the Employer that adopts this Plan and all Affiliated Employers, except that for purposes of this Section, Affiliated Employers shall be determined pursuant to the modification made by Code Section 415(h).
- (5) "Excess Amount" means the excess of the Participant's "Annual Additions" for the "Limitation Year" over the "Maximum Permissible Amount."
- (6) "Limitation Year" means the Compensation year (a twelve (12) consecutive month period) as elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement. All qualified plans maintained by the Employer must use the same Limitation Year. If the Limitation Year is amended to a different twelve (12) consecutive month period, the new Limitation Year must begin on a date within the Limitation Year in which the amendment is made.

The Limitation Year may only be changed by a Plan amendment. Furthermore, if the Plan is terminated effective as of a date other than the last day of the Plan's limitation year, then the Plan is treated as if the Plan had been amended to change its limitation year.

- (7) "Maximum Permissible Amount" means the maximum "Annual Addition" that may be contributed or allocated to a Participant's account under the Plan for any "Limitation Year." Except to the extent permitted under Section 414(v) of the Code, if applicable, the Annual Addition that may be contributed or allocated to a Participant's account under the Plan for any Limitation Year shall not exceed the lesser of:
 - (i) the "Defined Contribution Dollar Limitation" or
 - (ii) 100 percent of the Participant's 415 Compensation for the Limitation Year.

The compensation limit referred to in (ii) shall not apply to any contribution for medical benefits after separation from service (within the meaning of Section 401(h) or Section 419A(f)(2) of the Code) which is otherwise treated as an Annual Addition.

If a short "Limitation Year" is created because of an amendment changing the "Limitation Year" to a different twelve (12) consecutive month period, the Maximum Permissible Amount will not exceed the "Defined Contribution Dollar Contribution" multiplied by the following fraction:

12

- (e) For purposes of applying the limitations of Code Section 415, all defined contribution plans (without regard to whether a plan has been terminated) ever maintained by the Employer (or a "predecessor employer") under which the Participant receives Annual Additions are treated as one defined contribution plan. The "Employer" means the Employer that adopts this Plan and all members of a controlled group or an affiliated service group that includes the Employer (within the meaning of Code Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o)), except that for purposes of this Section, the determination shall be made by applying Code Section 415(h), and shall take into account tax-exempt organizations under Regulation Section 1.414(c)-5, as modified by Regulation Section 1.415(a)-1(f)(1). For purposes of this Section:
 - (1) A former Employer is a "predecessor employer" with respect to a participant in a plan maintained by an Employer if the Employer maintains a plan under which the participant had accrued a benefit while performing services for the former Employer, but only if that benefit is provided under the plan maintained by the Employer. For this purpose, the formerly affiliated plan rules in Regulation Section 1.415(f)-1(b)(2) apply as if the Employer and predecessor Employer constituted a single employer under the rules described in Regulation Section 1.415(a)-1(f)(1) and (2) immediately prior to the cessation of affiliation (and as if they constituted two, unrelated employers under the rules described in Regulation Section 1.415(a)-1(f)(1) and (2) immediately after the cessation of affiliation) and cessation of affiliation was the event that gives rise to the predecessor employer relationship, such as a transfer of benefits or plan sponsorship.
 - (2) With respect to an Employer of a participant, a former entity that antedates the Employer is a "predecessor employer" with respect to the participant if, under the facts and circumstances, the employer constitutes a continuation of all or a portion of the former entity.
- For purposes of aggregating plans for Code Section 415, a "formerly affiliated plan" of (f) an employer is taken into account for purposes of applying the Code Section 415 limitations to the employer, but the formerly affiliated plan is treated as if it had terminated immediately prior to the "cessation of affiliation." For purposes of this paragraph, a "formerly affiliated plan" of an employer is a plan that, immediately prior to the cessation of affiliation, was actually maintained by one or more of the entities that constitute the employer (as determined under the employer affiliation rules described in Regulation Section 1.415(a)-1(f)(1) and (2)), and immediately after the cessation of affiliation, is not actually maintained by any of the entities that constitute the employer (as determined under the employer affiliation rules described in Regulation Section 1.415(a)-1(f)(1) and (2)). For purposes of this paragraph, a "cessation of affiliation" means the event that causes an entity to no longer be aggregated with one or more other entities as a single employer under the employer affiliation rules described in Regulation Section 1.415(a)-1(f)(1) and (2) (such as the sale of a subsidiary outside a controlled group), or that causes a plan to not actually be maintained by any of the entities that constitute the employer under the employer affiliation rules of Regulation Section 1.415(a)-1(f)(1) and (2) (such as a transfer of plan sponsorship outside of a controlled group).
- (g) Two or more defined contribution plans that are not required to be aggregated pursuant to Code Section 415(f) and the Regulations thereunder as of the first day of a limitation year do not fail to satisfy the requirements of Code Section 415 with respect to a participant for the limitation year merely because they are aggregated later in that limitation year, provided that no annual additions are credited to the participant's account after the date on which the plans are required to be aggregated.
- (h) The limitations, adjustments and other requirements prescribed in this section shall at all times comply with the provisions of Code Section 415 and the Regulations thereunder.

4.05 ADJUSTMENT FOR EXCESSIVE ANNUAL ADDITIONS

If as a result of:

- (a) the allocation of Forfeitures,
- (b) a reasonable error in estimating a Participant's annual 415 Compensation,
- (c) a reasonable error in determining the amount of elective deferrals (within the meaning of Code Section 402(g)(3)) that may be made with respect to a Participant,
- (d) or other facts and circumstances to which Regulation Section 1.415-6(b)(6) shall be applicable, the "Annual Additions" under this Plan would cause the maximum provided in Section 4.04 to be exceeded, the Administrator shall treat the excess in accordance with Section 4.04(a)(4).

Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, if the Annual Additions (within the meaning of Code Section 415) are exceeded for any Participant, then the Plan may only correct such excess in accordance with the Employee Plans Compliance Resolution System (EPCRS) as set forth in Revenue Procedure 2008-50 or any superseding guidance, including, but not limited to, the preamble of the final Section 415 regulations.

4.06 TRANSFERS AND ROLLOVERS FROM OTHER EMPLOYER PLANS

- (a) As specified in the Adoption Agreement and with the consent of the Administrator, amounts may be transferred or rolled over on behalf of any Employee from other employer plans or individual retirement accounts, provided that the employer plan or account from which such funds are transferred permits the transfer to be made and, in the opinion of legal counsel for the Employer, the transfer or rollover will not jeopardize the qualified status of the Plan (or the Tax-exempt status of the related Trust, if applicable) or create adverse tax consequences for the Employer. The amounts transferred or rolled over shall be set up in a separate account herein referred to as a Rollover Account. Such account shall be fully Vested at all times and shall not be subject to Forfeiture for any reason. No amounts attributable to deductible Employee contributions (as defined in Code Section 219) may be rolled over or transferred to this Plan.
- (b) Amounts in a Rollover Account shall be held by the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) pursuant to the provisions of this Plan and may not be withdrawn by, or distributed to the Employee, in whole or in part, except as provided in Paragraphs (c), (d), (e) of this Section.
- (c) Amounts attributable to elective contributions (as defined in Regulation Section 1.401(k)-1(g)(3), or for Plan Years beginning on or after January 1, 2006, Regulations section 1.401(k)-6), including amounts treated as elective contributions, which are transferred from another employer plan in a plan-to-plan transfer shall be subject to the distribution limitations provided for in Regulation Section 1.401(k)-1(d).
- (d) A separate account will be maintained by the Administrator for any transferred voluntary Employee contributions of each Participant, and earnings and losses on such voluntary Employee contributions will be allocated to the separate account. A Participant may, upon a written request submitted to the Administrator, withdraw all or a portion of such transferred voluntary Employee contributions at any time. Such written request must be consistent with and satisfy all notice requirements of Code Section 402(f) and the Regulations thereunder.
- (e) At Normal Retirement Age, or such other date when the Employee or the Employee's Beneficiary shall be entitled to receive benefits as set forth in the Plan and Adoption Agreement, the fair market value of the Rollover Account shall be used to provide additional benefits to the Employee or the Employee's Beneficiary. If elected in the Adoption Agreement, distributions of rollovers may be made at any time, even if there is no distributable event which permits distribution of other accounts. Any distributions of amounts held in a Rollover Account shall be made in a manner which is consistent with and satisfies the provisions of Section 6.05, including, but not limited to, all notice requirements of Code

- Section 402(f). Furthermore, such amounts shall be considered as part of an Employee's benefit in determining whether an involuntary cash-out of benefits without such Employee's consent may be made.
- (f) For purposes of this section, the term "employer plan" shall mean any tax-qualified plan under Code Section 401(a), 403(a), 403(b), or 457(b) maintained by a state or local governmental entity. The term "amounts transferred or rolled over from other employer plans" shall mean:
 - (1) amounts transferred to this Plan directly from another employer plan by means of a trustee-to-insurer (or trustee-to-trustee or insurer-to-insurer) transfer; and
 - (2) eligible rollover distributions payable to or received by an Employee from another employer plan which are eligible for tax-free rollover to an employer plan and which are directly transferred to this Plan or are transferred by the Employee to this Plan within sixty (60) days following such Employee's receipt thereof.
- (g) Prior to accepting any transfers to which this section applies, the Administrator may require the Employee to establish that the amounts to be transferred to this Plan meet the requirements of this section and may also require the Employee to provide an opinion of counsel satisfactory to the Employer that the amounts to be transferred meet the requirements of this section.
- (h) If the Employer has elected in the Adoption Agreement to allow rollovers from other plans, the Employer, operationally and on a nondiscriminatory basis, may limit the source of rollover contributions that may be accepted by this Plan.

4.07 VOLUNTARY EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS (EMPLOYEE AFTER-TAX CONTRIBUTIONS)

- (a) If this is an amendment or restatement of a plan that previously permitted voluntary nondeductible (after-tax) Employee contributions, then such voluntary Employee contributions shall be held in a separate account as defined in Section 1.52.
- (b) The balance in each Participant's Voluntary Contribution Account shall be fully Vested at all times and shall not be subject to Forfeiture for any reason.
- (c) A Participant may elect to withdraw nondeductible voluntary Employee contributions from such Participant's Voluntary Contribution Account and the actual earnings thereon in a manner which is consistent with and satisfies the provisions of Section 6.05, including, but not limited to, all notice requirements of Code Section 402(f). If the Administrator maintains sub-accounts with respect to nondeductible voluntary Employee contributions (and earnings thereon) which were made on or before a specified date, a Participant shall be permitted to designate which sub-account shall be the source for the withdrawal. No Forfeitures shall occur solely as a result of an Employee's withdrawal of nondeductible voluntary Employee contributions.
- (d) At Normal Retirement Age, or such other date when the Participant or such Participant's Beneficiary shall be entitled to receive benefits, the fair market value of the Voluntary Contribution Account shall be used to provide additional benefits to the Participant or the Participant's Beneficiary.

4.08 OUALIFIED VOLUNTARY EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS

(a) If this is an amendment or restatement of a Plan that previously permitted deductible voluntary Employee contributions, then each Participant who made a qualified voluntary employee contribution within the meaning of Code Section 219(e)(2) as it existed prior to the enactment of the Tax Reform Act of 1986, shall have such Participant's contribution held in a separate Qualified Voluntary Employee Contribution Account which shall be fully Vested at all times. Such contributions, however, shall not be permitted if they are attributable to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1986.

- (b) A Participant may, upon written request delivered to the Administrator, make withdrawals from such Participant's Qualified Voluntary Employee Contribution Account. Any distribution shall be made in a manner which is consistent with and satisfies the provisions of Section 6.05, including, but not limited to, all notice requirements of Code Section 402(f).
- (c) At Normal Retirement Age, or such other date when the Participant or the Participant's Beneficiary shall be entitled to receive benefits, the fair market value of the Qualified Voluntary Employee Contribution Account shall be used to provide additional benefits to the Participant or the Participant's Beneficiary.

4.09 DIRECTED INVESTMENT ACCOUNT

- (a) If elected in the Adoption Agreement, except as provided below, all Participants may direct the investment of all or a portion of their individual account balances within limits set by the Employer. Participants may direct the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) in writing to invest their account in specific assets, specific funds or other investments permitted under the Plan and the Participant Direction Procedures. That portion of the interest of any Participant which is subject to investment direction of such Participant will be considered a Participant Directed Investment Account. With respect to Participants under age 18 (or the applicable age of majority), the Administrator may direct that such Participant's accounts be invested in the Designated Investment Option available under the Plan that has the lowest risk of loss.
- (b) As of each Valuation Date, all Participant Directed Investment Accounts shall be charged or credited with the net earnings, gains, losses and expenses as well as any appreciation or depreciation in the market value using publicly listed fair market values when available or appropriate as follows:
 - (1) To the extent that the assets in a Participant Directed Investment Account are accounted for as pooled assets or investments, the allocation of earnings, gains and losses of each Participant's Account shall be based upon the total amount of funds so invested, in a manner proportionate to the Participant's share of such pooled investment.
 - (2) To the extent that the assets in the Participant Directed Account are accounted for as segregated assets, the allocation of earnings, gains and losses from such assets shall be made on a separate and distinct basis.
- (c) Any information regarding investments available under the Plan, to the extent not required to be described in the Participant Direction Procedures, may be provided to the Participant in one or more written documents which are separate from the Participant Direction Procedures and are not thereby incorporated by reference into this Plan.
- (d) The Administrator may, at its discretion, include in or exclude by amendment or other action from the Participant Direction Procedure such instructions, guidelines or policies as it deems necessary or appropriate to ensure proper administration of the Plan, and may interpret the same accordingly.

ARTICLE V TRUSTEE AND CUSTODIAN (APPLICABLE ONLY TO TRUSTEED PLAN OR PORTION OF PLAN ASSETS HELD IN TRUST OR CUSTODIAL ACCOUNT)

5.01 BASIC RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE TRUSTEE

In the event this is a Trusteed Plan, the Trustee shall have the responsibilities in this Article V with respect to any assets which are not held in Annuity Contracts subject to the terms of Article X. If a discretionary Trustee is selected in the Adoption Agreement, then the Trustee has full discretion and authority with regard to the investment of the Plan assets, except with respect to assets under the control or direction of an investment manager, the Employer, the Administrator or a Participant. If a nondiscretionary Trustee is selected in the Adoption Agreement, then the Trustee will not have any discretion or authority with regard to the Plan assets, but must act solely as a directed Trustee of funds contributed. A nondiscretionary Trustee is authorized and empowered with the following rights, powers, and duties, each of which the nondiscretionary Trustee exercises solely as directed Trustee in accordance with the written direction of the investment manager, the Employer, the Administrator or a Participant. If the nondiscretionary Trustee should be directed but is not, the Employer is responsible for providing necessary direction.

The nondiscretionary Trustee has no duty to review or to make recommendations regarding investments made at the written direction of the investment manager, Employer or Participant. The nondiscretionary Trustee must retain any investment obtained at the written direction of the investment manager, Employer or Participant until further directed in writing to dispose of such investment. The nondiscretionary Trustee is not liable in any manner or for any reason for making, retaining or disposing of any investment pursuant to any written direction described in this paragraph. Furthermore, to the extent permitted by law, the Employer agrees to indemnify and to hold the nondiscretionary Trustee harmless from any damages, costs or expenses, including reasonable counsel fees, which the nondiscretionary Trustee may incur as a result of any claim asserted against the nondiscretionary Trustee arising out of the nondiscretionary Trustee's compliance with any written direction described in this paragraph.

- (a) The Trustee shall have the power to invest, manage, and control the Plan assets subject, however, to the direction of the Employer, the Administrator, a Participant or any agent of the Employer as to all or a portion of the assets of the Plan as follows:
 - (1) To the extent and in the manner permitted by the Participant Direction Procedures, if permitted in the Adoption Agreement, a Participant may direct the Trustee with respect to the investment or reinvestment of the Participant's Accounts under the Plan in such pooled investments (including, but not limited to the pooled funds of the Trustee) as are made available by agreement between the Trustee and the Employer.
 - (2) The Employer may by written agreement or designation appoint at its option an investment adviser or other agent to provide direction to the Trustee with respect to any or all of the Plan assets. Such appointment shall be given by the Employer in writing in a form acceptable to the Trustee and shall specifically identify the Plan assets with respect to which the agent shall have authority to direct the investment.
 - (3) In the event that the Trustee shall be directed by a Participant (pursuant to the Participant Direction Procedures), the Employer, or other agent appointed by the Employer with respect to the investment of any or all Plan assets, the Trustee shall have no liability with respect to the investment of such assets, but shall be responsible only to execute such investment instruction as so directed.
 - (4) The Trustee shall be entitled to rely fully on the written instructions of a Participant pursuant to the Participant Direction Procedures, the Employer, or any fiduciary or nonfiduciary agent of the Employer, in the discharge of such duties, and shall not be liable for any loss or other liability resulting from such direction (or lack of direction) of the investment of any part of the Plan assets.

- (5) The Trustee may delegate the duty to execute such instructions to any nonfiduciary agent, which may be an affiliate of the Trustee or any Plan representative.
- (6) The Trustee may refuse to comply with any direction from the Participant in the event the Trustee, in its sole and absolute discretion, deems such instructions improper by virtue of applicable law. The Trustee shall not be responsible or liable for any loss or expense which may result from the Trustee's refusal or failure to comply with any directions from the Participant.
- (7) Any costs and expenses related to compliance with the Participant's directions shall be borne by the Participant Directed Investment Account, unless paid by the Employer.
 - (i) At the direction of the Administrator, the Trustee shall have the power to pay benefits required under the Plan to be paid to Participants, or, in the event of their death, to their Beneficiaries;
 - (ii) The Trustee shall maintain records of receipts and disbursements and furnish to the Employer and/or Administrator for each Plan Year a written annual report per Section 5.06; and
 - (iii) If there shall be more than one Trustee, they shall act by a majority of their number, but may authorize one or more of them to sign papers on their behalf.

5.02 INVESTMENT POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE TRUSTEE

The Trustee shall have the following investment powers and duties, which shall be exercisable in the Trustee's sole discretion (if the Trustee is a discretionary Trustee), or at the direction of the Employer, the Administrator, a designated investment manager or a Participant (if the Trustee is a directed, nondiscretionary Trustee):

- (a) The Trustee shall, except as otherwise provided in this Plan, invest and reinvest the Trust Fund to keep the Trust Fund invested without distinction between principal and income and in such securities or property, real or personal, wherever situated, as the Trustee shall deem advisable, including, but not limited to, stocks, common or preferred, bonds and other evidences of indebtedness or ownership, and real estate or any interest therein. The Trustee shall at all times in making investments of the Trust Fund consider, among other factors, the short and long-term financial needs of the Plan on the basis of information furnished by the Employer. In making such investments, the Trustee shall not be restricted to securities or other property of the character expressly authorized by the applicable law for trust investments; however, the Trustee shall give due regard to any limitations imposed by the Code so that at all times this Plan may qualify as a qualified Plan and Trust.
- (b) The Trustee may employ a bank or trust company pursuant to the terms of its usual and customary bank agency agreement, under which the duties of such bank or trust company shall be of a custodial, clerical and record-keeping nature.
- (c) With respect to assets in a Participant's Directed Investment Account, the Participant or Beneficiary shall direct the Trustee with regard to any voting, tender and similar rights associated with the ownership of such assets, (i.e., the "Stock Right(s)") as follows:
 - (1) Each Participant or Beneficiary shall direct the Trustee to vote or otherwise exercise such Stock Rights in accordance with the provisions, conditions and terms of any such Stock Right(s);
 - (2) Such directions shall be provided to the Trustee by the Participant or Beneficiary in accordance with the procedure as established by the Administrator. The Trustee shall vote or

otherwise exercise such Stock Right(s) with respect to which it has received directions to do so under this Section; and

- (3) To the extent to which a Participant or Beneficiary does not instruct the Trustee to vote or otherwise exercise such Stock Right(s), such Participants or Beneficiaries shall be deemed to have directed the Trustee that such Stock Rights remain nonvoted and unexercised.
- (d) The Trustee may from time to time transfer to a common, collective, or pooled trust fund maintained by any corporate Trustee hereunder pursuant to Revenue Ruling 81-100, all or such part of the Trust Fund as the Trustee may deem advisable, and such part or all of the Trust Fund so transferred shall be subject to all the terms and provisions of the common, collective, or pooled trust fund which contemplate the commingling for investment purposes of such trust assets with trust assets of other trusts. The Trustee may withdraw from such common, collective, or pooled trust fund all or such part of the Trust Fund as the Trustee may deem advisable.
- (e) Amounts attributable to contributions for Part-time, Seasonal and Temporary Employees pursuant to Section 4.01(e) shall be held in a separate account that is subject to general fiduciary standards, and these amounts shall be credited with the actual earnings of the assets held in such account.

5.03 OTHER POWERS OF THE TRUSTEE

The Trustee, in addition to all powers and authorities under common law, statutory authority and other provisions of this Plan, shall have the following powers and authorities, except as otherwise provided in this Plan, exercisable at the Trustee's sole discretion (if the Trustee is a discretionary trustee), or at the direction of the Employer, the Administrator, or designated investment manager or Participant (if the Trustee is a directed nondiscretionary Trustee):

- (a) To purchase, or subscribe for, any securities or other property and to retain the same. In conjunction with the purchase of securities, margin accounts may be opened and maintained;
- (b) To sell, exchange, convey, transfer, grant options to purchase, or otherwise dispose of any securities or other property held by the Trustee, by private contract or at public auction. No person dealing with the Trustee shall be bound to see to the application of the purchase money or to inquire into the validity, expediency, or propriety of any such sale or other disposition, with or without advertisement;
- (c) To vote upon any stocks, bonds, or other securities; to give general or special proxies or powers of attorney with or without power of substitution; to exercise any conversion privileges, subscription rights or other options, and to make any payments incidental thereto; to oppose, or to consent to, or otherwise participate in, corporate reorganizations or other changes affecting corporate securities, and to delegate discretionary powers, and to pay any assessments or charges in connection therewith; and generally to exercise any of the powers of an owner with respect to stocks, bonds, securities, or other property. However, the Trustee shall not vote proxies relating to securities for which it has not been assigned full investment management responsibilities. In those cases where another party has such investment authority or discretion, the Trustee will deliver all proxies to said party who will then have full responsibility for voting those proxies;
- (d) To cause any securities or other property to be registered in the Trustee's own name or in the name of one or more of the Trustee's nominees, and to hold any investments in bearer form, but the books and records of the Trustee shall at all times show that all such investments are part of the Trust Fund;
- (e) To borrow or raise money for the purposes of the Plan in such amount, and upon such terms and conditions, as the Trustee shall deem advisable; and for any sum so borrowed, to issue a promissory note as Trustee, and to secure the repayment thereof by pledging all, or any part, of the Trust Fund; and no person lending money to the Trustee shall be bound to see to the application of the money lent or to inquire into the validity, expediency, or propriety of any borrowing;

- (f) To keep such portion of the Trust Fund in cash or cash balances as the Trustee may, from time to time, deem to be in the best interests of the Plan, without liability for interest thereon;
- (g) To accept and retain for such time as it may deem advisable any securities or other property received or acquired by it as Trustee hereunder, whether or not such securities or other property would normally be purchased as investments hereunder;
- (h) To make, execute, acknowledge, and deliver any and all documents of transfer and conveyance and any and all other instruments that may be necessary or appropriate to carry out the powers herein granted;
- (i) To settle, compromise, or submit to arbitration any claims, debts, or damages due or owing to or from the Plan, to commence or defend suits or legal or administrative proceedings, and to represent the Plan in all suits and legal and administrative proceedings;
- (j) To employ suitable agents and counsel and to pay their reasonable expenses and compensation, and such agent or counsel may or may not be agent or counsel for the Employer;
- (k) To apply for and procure from the Insurer as an investment of the Trust Fund such Contracts as the Administrator shall deem proper; to exercise, at any time or from time to time, whatever rights and privileges may be granted under such Contracts; to collect, receive, and settle for the proceeds of all such Contracts as and when entitled to do so under the provisions thereof;
- (l) To invest funds of the Trust in time deposits or savings accounts bearing a reasonable rate of interest in the Trustee's bank;
 - (m) To invest in Treasury Bills and other forms of United States government obligations;
- (n) To sell, purchase and acquire put or call options if the options are traded on and purchased through a national securities exchange registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or, if the options are not traded on a national securities exchange, are guaranteed by a member firm of the New York Stock Exchange;
- (o) To deposit monies in federally insured savings accounts or certificates of deposit in banks or savings and loan associations;
- (p) To pool all or any of the Trust Fund, from time to time, with assets belonging to any other qualified employee pension benefit trust created by the Employer or any Affiliated Employer, and to commingle such assets and make joint or common investments and carry joint accounts on behalf of this Plan and such other trust or trusts, allocating undivided shares or interests in such investments or accounts or any pooled assets of the two or more trusts in accordance with their respective interests;
- (q) To appoint an agent or agents to assist the Trustee in carrying out any investment instructions of Participants and any fiduciary or responsible party;
- (r) To do all such acts and exercise all such rights and privileges, although not specifically mentioned herein, as the Trustee may deem necessary to carry out the purposes of the Plan.
- (s) To invest in shares of investment companies registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940.
- (t) Directed Investment Account. If elected in the Adoption Agreement, each Participant may direct the Trustee to separate and keep separate all or a portion of such Participant's interest in the Plan; and further each Participant is authorized and empowered, in such Participant's sole and absolute discretion, to give directions to the Trustee in such form as the Trustee may require concerning the

investment of the Participant's Directed Investment Account, which directions must be followed by the Trustee. Neither the Trustee nor any other persons including the Administrator or otherwise shall be under any duty to question any such direction of the Participant or to review any securities or other property, real or personal, or to make any suggestions to the Participant in connection therewith, and the Trustee shall comply as promptly as practicable with directions given by the Participant hereunder. Any such direction may be of a continuing nature or otherwise and may be revoked by the Participant at any time in such form as the Trustee may require. The Trustee may refuse to comply with any direction from the Participant in the event the Trustee, in its sole and absolute discretion, deems such directions improper by virtue of applicable law, and in such event, the Trustee shall not be responsible or liable for any loss or expense which may result. Any costs and expenses related to compliance with the Participant's directions shall be borne by the Participant Directed Investment Account.

Notwithstanding anything hereinabove to the contrary, the Trustee shall not invest any portion of a Participant Directed Investment Account in "collectibles" within the meaning of that term as employed in Code Section 408(m).

5.04 DUTIES OF THE TRUSTEE REGARDING PAYMENTS

At the direction of the Administrator, the Trustee shall, from time to time, in accordance with the terms of the Plan, make payments out of the Plan assets. The Trustee shall not be responsible in any way for the application of such payments.

5.05 TRUSTEE'S COMPENSATION AND EXPENSES AND TAXES

The Trustee shall be paid such reasonable compensation as set forth in the Trustee's fee schedule (if the Trustee has such a schedule) or as agreed upon in writing by the Employer and the Trustee. An individual serving as Trustee who already receives full-time pay from the Employer shall not receive compensation from this Plan. In addition, the Trustee shall be reimbursed for any reasonable expenses, including reasonable counsel fees incurred by it as Trustee. Such compensation and expenses shall be paid from the Trust Fund unless paid or advanced by the Employer. All taxes of any kind and all kinds whatsoever that may be levied or assessed under existing or future laws upon, or in respect of, the Trust Fund or the income thereof, shall be paid from the Trust Fund.

5.06 ANNUAL REPORT OF THE TRUSTEE

Within a reasonable period of time after the later of the Anniversary Date or receipt of the Employer's contribution for each Plan Year, the Trustee, or its agent, shall furnish to the Employer and Administrator a written statement of account with respect to the Plan Year for which such contribution was made setting forth:

- (a) the net income, or loss, of the Trust Fund;
- (b) the gains, or losses, realized by the Trust Fund upon sales or other disposition of the assets;
 - (c) the increase, or decrease, in the value of the Trust Fund;
 - (d) all payments and distributions made from the Trust Fund; and
- (e) such further information as the Trustee and/or Administrator deems appropriate. The Employer, forthwith upon its receipt of each such statement of account, shall acknowledge receipt thereof in writing and advise the Trustee and/or Administrator of its approval or disapproval thereof. Failure by the Employer to disapprove any such statement of account within sixty (60) days after its receipt thereof shall be deemed an approval thereof. The approval by the Employer of any statement of account shall be binding as to all matters embraced therein as between the Employer and the Trustee to the same extent as if the account of the Trustee had been settled by judgment or decree in an action for a judicial settlement of its account in a court of competent jurisdiction in which the Trustee, the Employer and all persons having

or claiming an interest in the Plan were parties; provided, however, that nothing herein contained shall deprive the Trustee of its right to have its accounts judicially settled if the Trustee so desires.

5.07 RESIGNATION, REMOVAL AND SUCCESSION OF TRUSTEE

- (a) The Trustee may resign at any time by delivering to the Employer, at least sixty (60) days before its effective date, a written notice of resignation.
- (b) The Employer may remove the Trustee by mailing by registered or certified mail, addressed to such Trustee at the Trustee's last known address, at least sixty (60) days before its effective date, a written notice of such Trustee's removal.
- (c) Upon the death, resignation, incapacity, or removal of any Trustee, a successor may be appointed by the Employer; and such successor, upon accepting such appointment in writing and delivering same to the Employer, shall, without further act, become vested with all the estate, rights, powers, discretions, and duties of the predecessor with like respect as if such Trustee were originally named as a Trustee herein. Until such a successor is appointed, the remaining Trustee or Trustees shall have full authority to act under the terms of the Plan.
- (d) The Employer may designate one or more successors prior to the death, resignation, incapacity, or removal of a Trustee. In the event a successor is so designated by the Employer and accepts such designation, the successor shall, without further act, become vested with all the estate, rights, powers, discretions, and duties of such successor's predecessor with the like effect as if such successor were originally named as Trustee herein immediately upon the death, resignation, incapacity, or removal of the predecessor.
- (e) Whenever any Trustee hereunder ceases to serve as such, the Trustee shall furnish to the Employer and Administrator a written statement of account with respect to the portion of the Plan Year during which the individual or entity served as Trustee. This statement shall be either (i) included as part of the annual statement of account for the Plan Year required under Section 5.06 or (ii) set forth in a special statement. Any such special statement of account should be rendered to the Employer no later than the due date of the annual statement of account for the Plan Year. The procedures set forth in Section 5.06 for the approval by the Employer of annual statements of account shall apply to any special statement of account rendered hereunder and approval by the Employer of any such special statement in the manner provided in Section 5.06 shall have the same effect upon the statement as the Employer's approval of an annual statement of account. No successor to the Trustee shall have any duty or responsibility to investigate the acts or transactions of any predecessor who has rendered all statements of account required by Section 5.06 and this subsection.

5.08 TRUSTEE INDEMNIFICATION

To the extent permitted by law, the Employer agrees to indemnify and save harmless the Trustee against any and all claims, losses, damages, expenses and liabilities the Trustee may incur in the exercise and performance of the Trustee's powers and duties hereunder, unless the same are determined to be due to gross negligence or willful misconduct.

5.09 VALUATION OF THE TRUST FUND

The Administrator shall direct the Trustee, as of each Valuation Date, to determine the net worth of the assets comprising the Trust Fund as it exists on the Valuation Date prior to taking into consideration any contribution to be allocated for that Plan Year. In determining such net worth, the Trustee shall value the assets comprising the Trust Fund at their fair market value as of the Valuation Date.

5.10 METHOD OF VALUATION

In determining the fair market value of securities held in the Trust Fund which are listed on a registered stock exchange, the Administrator shall direct the Trustee to value the same at the prices they were last traded on such exchange preceding the close of business on the Valuation Date. If such securities were not traded on the Valuation Date, or if the exchange on which they are traded was not open for business on the Valuation Date, then the securities shall be valued at the prices at which they were last traded prior to the Valuation Date. Any unlisted security held in the Trust Fund shall be valued at its bid price next preceding the close of business on the Valuation Date, which bid price shall be obtained from a registered broker or an investment banker. In determining the fair market value of assets other than securities for which trading or bid prices can be obtained, the Trustee may appraise such assets itself or employ one or more appraisers for that purpose and rely on the values established by such appraiser or appraisers.

5.11 USE OF CUSTODIAL ACCOUNT

In the event that the Employer elects, in Section D.1.b. of the Adoption Agreement, to have all or a portion of the Plan's assets held in trust by a nondiscretionary Trustee, the Employer may, in lieu of or in addition to appointing a Trustee and creating a trust, appoint a bank (as defined in Code Section 408(n)), or another person who meets the requirements for a non-bank custodian under Code Section 401(f)(2), to serve as the custodian ("Custodian") of such assets, and may direct the Custodian to hold such assets in an account ("Custodial Account") that, but for the fact that it is not a trust, would otherwise constitute a qualified trust under Code Section 401(a). If the Employer makes the election described in this Section 5.11, the Custodial Account shall, for all purposes under the Plan, be treated as the Plan's Trust Fund (as described in Section 1.47), and the Custodian shall, for all purposes under the Plan, be treated as the nondiscretionary trustee of such Trust Fund. Consequently, any reference in the Plan to the Trustee shall be treated as a reference to the Custodian of the Custodial Account, and the Custodian shall have all the powers, duties and responsibilities of a nondiscretionary Trustee as set forth under Article V; provided, however, that the Custodian shall not have the power to, and shall not be permitted to, invest the assets of the Trust Fund in a common, collective or pooled trust fund maintained by a corporate Trustee, as described in Section 5.02(d).

ARTICLE VI DETERMINATION AND DISTRIBUTION OF BENEFITS

6.01 DETERMINATION OF BENEFITS UPON RETIREMENT

Upon the Participant's attainment of Normal Retirement Age or Early Retirement Age, all amounts credited to a Participant's Account shall become fully Vested. However, a Participant may postpone the termination of employment with the Employer to a later date, in which event the participation of such Participant in the Plan, including the right to receive allocations pursuant to Section 4.03, shall continue until such Participant's Retirement Date. Upon a Participant's Retirement Date, or as soon thereafter as is practicable, all amounts credited to such Participant's Account shall be distributable in accordance with Section 6.05.

6.02 DETERMINATION OF BENEFITS UPON DEATH

- (a) Upon the death of a Participant before the Participant's Retirement Date or other termination of employment, all amounts credited to such Participant's Account shall, if elected in the Adoption Agreement, become fully Vested. The Administrator shall direct the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable), in accordance with the provisions of Sections 6.06 and 6.07, to distribute the value of the deceased Participant's Vested accounts to the Participant's Beneficiary.
- (b) Upon the death of a Former Participant, the Administrator shall direct, in accordance with the provisions of Sections 6.06 and 6.07, the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable), to distribute the value of any remaining Vested amounts credited to the accounts of such deceased Former Participant to such Former Participant's Beneficiary.
- (c) The Administrator may require such proper proof of death and such evidence of the right of any person to receive payment of the value of the account of a deceased Participant or Former Participant as the Administrator may deem desirable. The Administrator's determination of death and of the right of any person to receive payment shall be conclusive.
- (d) The designation of a Beneficiary shall be made on a form satisfactory to the Administrator. A Participant may at any time revoke a designation of a Beneficiary or change a Beneficiary by filing written notice of such revocation or change with the Administrator. In the event no valid designation of Beneficiary exists at the time of the Participant's death, the death benefit shall be payable to the Participant's estate.
- (e) In the event of any conflict between the terms of this Plan and the terms of any Contract issued hereunder, the Plan provisions shall control.

6.03 DETERMINATION OF BENEFITS IN EVENT OF DISABILITY

In the event of a Participant's Total and Permanent Disability prior to the Participant's Retirement Date or other termination of employment, all amounts credited to such Participant's Account shall, if elected in the Adoption Agreement, become fully Vested. In such event, the Administrator, in accordance with the provisions of Sections 6.05 and 6.07, shall direct the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) to distribute to such Participant all Vested amounts credited to such Participant's Account in a manner consistent with Section 6.05, including, but not limited to, all notice requirements of Code Section 402(f).

6.04 DETERMINATION OF BENEFITS UPON TERMINATION

(a) Distribution of the funds due to a Terminated Participant shall be made on the occurrence of an event which would result in the distribution had the Terminated Participant remained in the employ of the Employer (upon the Participant's death, Total and Permanent Disability, or Retirement Date). However, at the election of the Participant, the Administrator shall direct the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) to cause the entire Vested portion of the Terminated Participant's Account to be payable to such

Terminated Participant provided the conditions, if any, set forth in the Adoption Agreement have been satisfied.

Any distribution under this paragraph shall be made in a manner which is consistent with and satisfies the provisions of Section 6.05, including but not limited to, the notice requirements under Code Section 402(f).

- (b) The Vested portion of any Participant's Account shall be a percentage of such Participant's Account determined on the basis of the Participant's number of Years of Service (or twelve month Periods of Service if the Elapsed Time Method is elected) according to the vesting schedule specified in the Adoption Agreement. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan to the contrary, contributions for Part-time, Seasonal and Temporary Employees pursuant to Section 4.01(e), Special Pay contributions and Employee non-elective contributions, shall be 100% immediately vested.
- (c) Notwithstanding the vesting schedule above, upon any termination of the Plan or in the case of a profit sharing plan the complete discontinuance of contributions to the Plan, all amounts credited to the account of any affected Participant shall become 100% Vested and shall not thereafter be subject to Forfeiture.
- (d) If this is an amended or restated Plan, then notwithstanding the vesting schedule specified in the Adoption Agreement, the Vested percentage of a Participant's Account shall not be less than the Vested percentage attained as of the later of the effective date or adoption date of this amendment and restatement. The computation of a Participant's nonforfeitable percentage of such Participant's interest in the Plan shall not be reduced as the result of any direct or indirect amendment to this Article.
- (e) This subsection (e) applies if break in service rules have been selected in the Adoption Agreement.
 - (1) If any Former Participant shall be reemployed by the Employer before a 1-Year Break in Service occurs, the Former Participant shall continue to participate in the Plan in the same manner as if such termination had not occurred.
 - (2) If any Former Participant shall be reemployed by the Employer, and such Former Participant had received a distribution of the entire Vested interest prior to reemployment, the forfeited account shall not be reinstated.
 - (3) If any Former Participant is reemployed after a 1-Year Break in Service has occurred, Years of Service (or Periods of Service) shall include Years of Service (or Periods of Service) prior to the 1-Year Break in Service subject to the following rules:
 - (i) Any Former Participant who under the Plan does not have a nonforfeitable right to any interest in the Plan resulting from Employer contributions shall lose credits if the consecutive 1-Year Breaks in Service equal or exceed the greater of (A) five (5) or (B) the aggregate number of pre-break Years of Service (or Periods of Service);
 - (ii) After five (5) consecutive 1-Year Breaks in Service, a Former Participant's Vested Account balance attributable to pre-break service shall not be increased as a result of post-break service;
 - (iii) A Former Participant who is reemployed and who has not had Years of Service (or Periods of Service) before a 1-Year Break in Service disregarded pursuant to (i) above, shall participate in the Plan as of the date of reemployment.
 - (iv) If a Former Participant completes a Year of Service (a 1-Year Break in

Service previously occurred, but employment had not terminated), the Former Participant shall participate in the Plan retroactively from the first day of the Plan Year during which one (1) Year of Service (or Period of Service) is completed.

(f) In determining Years of Service (or Periods of Service) for purposes of vesting under the Plan, Years of Service (or Periods of Service) shall be excluded as specified in the Adoption Agreement.

6.05 DISTRIBUTION OF BENEFITS

- (a) The Trustee (or Insurer) will make Plan distributions in the form of cash except where (1) the Plan is a restated Plan and under the prior Plan, distribution in the form of property ("in-kind distribution") is a Protected Benefit, or (2) the Employer is terminating the Plan, and in the reasonable judgment of the Administrator, some or all Plan assets may not within a reasonable time for making final distributions of Plan assets, be liquidated to cash or may not be so liquidated without undue loss in value. Under clause (2), the Administrator will direct the Trustee (or Insurer) to make Plan termination distributions to Participants and Beneficiaries in cash, in-kind or in a combination of these forms, in a reasonable and nondiscriminatory manner which may take into account the preferences of the distributees. All in-kind distributions will be made based on the current fair market value of the property, as determined by the Administrator.
- (b) The portion of a Participant's benefit derived from Employer contributions will generally not be paid without the Participant's consent. If elected in the Adoption Agreement, the Administrator will distribute such benefit in a lump-sum without such Participant's consent. If any portion of the Participant's benefit is derived from contributions made for Part-time, Seasonal or Temporary Employees pursuant to Section 4.01(e), no distribution will be made without the Participant's consent if the Participant's Vested Interest is greater than the cash-out limit in effect under Code Section 411(a)(11)(A) for the Plan Year which includes the date of distribution. If, in the Adoption Agreement, the Employer elects to distribute a terminated Participant's Vested account without the Participant's consent, but only if the Participant's Vested account balance does not exceed \$1,000, then the value of the Participant's Vested account shall be determined by including the portion of the account balance that is attributable to rollover contributions (and earnings allocable thereto) within the meaning of Code Sections 402(c), 403(a)(4), 403(b)(8), 408(d)(3)(A)(ii), and 457(e)(16).

For distributions on or after March 28, 2005, in the event of a mandatory distribution greater than \$1,000 (but not greater than the cash-out limit in effect under Code Section 411(a)(11)(A)) in accordance with the provisions of this Section 6.05(b) (or any other section of the Plan relating to involuntary distributions), if the Participant does not elect to have such distribution paid directly to an eligible retirement plan specified by the Participant in a direct rollover or to receive the distribution directly, then the Administrator will direct the Trustee (or Insurer) to pay the distribution in a direct rollover to an individual retirement plan designated by the Administrator. In such event, the Administrator shall:

- (1) Select and enter into a written agreement with an IRA service provider that is willing to accept small account distributions as rollovers;
 - (2) Select a default IRA investment that meets regulatory requirements;
- (3) Execute the necessary documents to establish an IRA on the Participant's behalf; and
- (4) Ensure that Participants are provided with a detailed written explanation of the default IRA, including a description of the investment, the fees associated with the IRA, notification that the distribution may be transferred by the Participant to another individual retirement plan, as well as the name, address, and phone number of a plan contact for additional information.

- (c) The Participant's consent shall not be required for any distribution required under Section 6.15, below.
- (d) Notwithstanding any provision in the Plan to the contrary, distributions shall be made in accordance with Section 6.15 and shall otherwise comply with Code Section 401(a)(9) and the Regulations thereunder.
- (e) All Contracts purchased for purposes of the payment of benefits under this Plan shall be non-transferable.
- (f) If a distribution is made at a time when a Participant who has not terminated employment is not fully Vested in the Participant's Account and the Participant may increase the Vested percentage in such account:
 - (1) A separate account shall be established for the Participant's interest in the Plan as of the time of the distribution, and
 - (2) At any relevant time the Participant's Vested portion of the separate account shall be equal to an amount ("X") determined by the formula:

X equals P(AB plus (RxD)) - (R x D)

For purposes of applying the formula: P is the Vested percentage at the relevant time, AB is the account balance at the relevant time, D is the amount of distribution, R is the ratio of the account balance at the relevant time to the account balance after distribution, and the relevant time is the time at which, under the Plan, the vested percentage in the account cannot increase.

- (g) The Administrator, pursuant to the election of the Participant, shall direct the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) to distribute to a Participant or the Participant's Beneficiary any amount to which the Participant or Beneficiary is entitled under the Plan in one or more of the following methods which are permitted pursuant to the Adoption Agreement:
 - (1) One lump -sum payment in cash;
 - (2) Payments in monthly, quarterly, semiannual, or annual cash installments after first having:
 - (i) purchased a nontransferable annuity Contract for such payment, or,
 - (ii) if a trusteed Plan, segregated the aggregate amount thereof in a separate savings account or certificate of deposit in a bank or savings and loan association, money market certificate or other liquid short-term security. The period over which such payment is to be made shall not extend beyond the Participant's life expectancy (or the life expectancy of the Participant and the Participant's designated Beneficiary);
 - (3) Payments in the form of an annuity. However, such annuity may not be in any form that will provide for payments over a period extending beyond either the life of the Participant (or the lives of the Participant and the Participant's designated Beneficiary) or the life expectancy.

6.06 DISTRIBUTION OF BENEFITS UPON DEATH

(a) If the Participant dies before his entire Vested Account is distributed to him, his remaining Vested interest in the Plan shall be distributed to his designated Beneficiary by either of the following methods, as elected by the Participant (or, if no election has been made prior to the Participant's

death, by the Participant's Beneficiary) subject to the rules specified in Section 6.06(b) and the selections made in the Adoption Agreement:

- (1) One lump-sum payment in cash;
- (2) In the form of an annuity over the life expectancy of the Participant's Beneficiary.
 - (3) In the form of installments. In the event the death benefit is payable in
- (4) installments, then, upon the death of the Participant, the Administrator may direct that the death benefit be segregated and invested separately, and that the funds accumulated in the segregated account be used for the payment of the installments.
- (b) Notwithstanding the above, if the Participant's Vested account balance as of the date of death does not exceed the amount selected in the Adoption Agreement (for involuntary distributions), the entire Vested account balance shall be distributed as soon as administratively practicable in a single lump sum subject to the mandatory rollover to IRA provisions of Section 6.05(b). The value of a Participant's Vested account balance shall be determined by including the portion of the account balance that is attributable to rollover contributions (and earnings allocable thereto) within the meaning of Code Sections 402(c), 403(a)(4), 403(b)(8), 408(d)(3)(A)(ii), and 457(e)(16).
- (c) Notwithstanding any provision in the Plan to the contrary, distributions upon the death of a Participant shall be made in accordance with Section 6.15 and shall otherwise comply with Code Section 401(a)(9) and the Regulations thereunder.
- (d) In the event that less than 100% of a Participant's interest in the Plan is distributed to such Participant's spouse, the portion of the distribution attributable to the Participant's Voluntary Contribution Account shall be in the same proportion that the Participant's Voluntary Contribution Account bears to the Participant's total interest in the Plan.

6.07 TIME OF SEGREGATION OR DISTRIBUTION

Except as limited by Sections 6.05 and 6.06, whenever the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) is to make a distribution or commence a series of payments on or as of an Anniversary Date, the distribution or series of payments may be made or begun on such date or as soon thereafter as is practicable.

6.08 DISTRIBUTION FOR MINOR BENEFICIARY

In the event a distribution is to be made to a minor Beneficiary, then the Administrator may direct that such distribution be paid to the legal guardian or to the custodian for such Beneficiary under the applicable state Uniform Transfers (Gifts) to Minors Act, if such is permitted by the laws of the state in which said Beneficiary resides. Such a payment to the legal guardian or custodian of a minor Beneficiary shall fully discharge the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable), Employer, and Plan from further liability on account thereof.

6.09 LOCATION OF PARTICIPANT OR BENEFICIARY UNKNOWN

In the event that all, or any portion, of the distribution payable to a Participant or Beneficiary hereunder shall, at the later of the Participant's attainment of age 62 or Normal Retirement Age, remain unpaid solely by reason of the inability of the Administrator to ascertain the whereabouts of such Participant or Beneficiary, the amount so distributable may, in the sole discretion of the Administrator, either be treated as a Forfeiture or be paid directly to an individual retirement account described in Code §408(a) or an individual retirement annuity described in Code §408(b). In addition, if the Plan provides for mandatory distributions, and the amount to be distributed to a Participant or Beneficiary does not exceed \$1,000, then the amount distributable may, in the sole discretion of the Administrator, either be treated as a Forfeiture or be paid directly to an individual retirement account described in

Code §408(a) or an individual retirement annuity described in Code §408(b) at the time it is determined that the whereabouts of the Participant or the Participant's Beneficiary cannot be ascertained. In the event a Participant or Beneficiary is located subsequent to the Forfeiture, such benefit shall be restored, first from Forfeitures, if any, and then from an additional Employer contribution, if necessary. Upon Plan termination, the portion of the distributable amount that is an "eligible rollover distribution," as defined in Section 6.14(b)(1), may be paid directly to an individual retirement account described in Code §408(a) or an individual retirement annuity described in Code §408(b). However, regardless of the preceding, a benefit that is lost by reason of escheat under applicable state law is not treated as a Forfeiture for purposes of this Section nor as an impermissible forfeiture under the Code.

6.10 IN-SERVICE DISTRIBUTION

For Profit Sharing Plans, if elected in the Adoption Agreement, at such time as the conditions specified in the Adoption Agreement have been satisfied, the Administrator, at the election of the Participant, shall direct the distribution of up to the entire amount then credited to the accounts maintained on behalf of the Participant. However, no such distribution from the Participant's Account shall occur prior to 100% Vesting. In the event that the Administrator makes such a distribution, the Participant shall continue to be eligible to participate in the Plan on the same basis as any other Employee. Any distribution made pursuant to this section shall be made in a manner consistent with Section 6.05, including, but not limited to, the notice requirements of Code Section 402(f) and the Regulations thereunder. The provisions of the paragraph shall not apply to contributions made pursuant to Section G.3.b. of the Adoption Agreement on behalf of Part-time, Seasonal and Temporary Employees.

Except as provided in the following paragraph, to the extent that any optional form of benefit under this Plan permits a distribution prior to the Participant's retirement, death, Total and Permanent Disability, or severance from employment, and prior to Plan termination, the optional form of benefit is not available with respect to benefits attributable to assets (including the post-transfer earnings thereon) and liabilities that are transferred, within the meaning of Code Section 414(l), to this Plan from a Money Purchase Pension Plan qualified under Code Section 401(a) (other than any portion of those assets and liabilities attributable to voluntary Employee contributions).

If elected in the Adoption Agreement, then beginning as of the date specified in the Adoption Agreement, if the Plan is a money purchase pension plan (or a profit sharing plan that has received a transfer of assets from a pension plan), a Participant who has attained age 62, but has not separated from employment, may elect to receive a distribution of up to 100% of the Vested portion of the Participant's Account (or, in the case of a transferee plan, of up to the entire amount attributable to such transferred assets).

6.11 ADVANCE DISTRIBUTION FOR HARDSHIP

- (a) For Profit Sharing Plans, if elected in the Adoption Agreement, the Administrator, at the election of the Participant, shall direct the distribution to any Participant in any one Plan Year up to the lesser of 100% of the Participant's Account valued as of the last Anniversary Date or other Valuation Date or the amount necessary to satisfy the immediate and heavy financial need of the Participant. Any distribution made pursuant to this section shall be deemed to be made as of the first day of the Plan Year or, if later, the Valuation Date immediately preceding the date of distribution, and the account from which the distribution is made shall be reduced accordingly. Withdrawal under this section shall be authorized only if the distribution is on account of:
 - (1) Medical expenses described in Code Section 213(d) incurred by the Participant, the Participant's spouse, or any of the Participant's dependents (as defined in Code Section 152) or expenses necessary for these persons to obtain medical care;
 - (2) The purchase (excluding mortgage payments) of a principal residence for the Participant;
 - (3) Funeral expenses for a member of the Participant's family;

- (4) Payment of tuition and related educational fees for the next twelve (12) months of post-secondary education for the Participant, the Participant's spouse, children, or dependents;
- (5) The need to prevent the eviction of the Participant from the Participant's principal residence or foreclosure on the mortgage of the Participant's principal residence: or
- (6) Expenses for the repair of damage to the Participant's principal residence that would qualify for the casualty deduction under Code Section 165 (determined without regard to whether the loss exceeds 10% of adjusted gross income).
- (b) No such distribution shall be made from the Participant's Account until such account has become fully Vested.
- (c) Any distribution made pursuant to this section shall be made in a manner which is consistent with and satisfies the provisions of Section 6.05, including, but not limited to, all notice requirements of Code Section 402(f).
- (d) The provisions of the paragraph shall not apply to contributions made pursuant to Section G.3.b. of the Adoption Agreement on behalf of Part-time, Seasonal and Temporary Employees.
- (e) Unless otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement, then effective as of August 17, 2006, a Participant's hardship event, for purposes of the Plan's hardship distribution provisions, includes an immediate and heavy financial need of the Participant's primary Beneficiary under the Plan, that would constitute a hardship event if it occurred with respect to the Participant's spouse or dependent as defined under Code Section152 (such hardship events being limited to educational expenses, funeral expenses and certain medical expenses). For purposes of this subparagraph (e), a Participant's "primary Beneficiary under the Plan" is an individual who is named as a Beneficiary under the Plan and has an unconditional right to all or a portion of the Participant's account balance under the Plan upon the Participant's death.

6.12 QUALIFIED RESERVIST DISTRIBUTIONS

If elected in the Adoption Agreement, then effective as of the date specified in the Adoption Agreement, the Plan permits a Participant to elect a Qualified Reservist Distribution, as defined in this Section 6.12.

A "Qualified Reservist Distribution" is any distribution to an individual who is ordered or called to active duty after September 11, 2001, if: (i) the distribution is from amounts attributable to elective deferrals in a 401(k) plan; (ii) the individual was (by reason of being a member of a reserve component, as defined in Section 101 of Title 37, United States Code) ordered or called to active duty for a period in excess of 179 days or for an indefinite period; and (iii) the Plan makes the distribution during the period beginning on the date of such order or call, and ending at the close of the active duty period.

6.13 LIMITATIONS ON BENEFITS AND DISTRIBUTIONS UNDER DOMESTIC RELATIONS ORDERS

All rights and benefits, including elections, provided to a Participant in this Plan shall be subject to the rights afforded to any "alternate payee" under a "domestic relations order" ("DRO") as defined in Code Section 414(p). Furthermore, if elected in the Adoption Agreement, a distribution to an "alternate payee" shall be permitted if such distribution is authorized by a DRO, even if the affected Participant is not yet entitled to a distribution under the terms of the Plan.

Effective April 6, 2007, a domestic relations order will not fail to be a DRO: (i) solely because the order is issued after, or revises, another domestic relations order or DRO; or (ii) solely because of the time at which the order is issued, including issuance after the annuity starting date or after the Participant's death. Such a domestic relations order is subject to the same requirements and protections that apply to DROs.

6.14 DIRECT ROLLOVER

- (a) Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary that would otherwise limit a distributee's election under this Section, a distributee may elect, at the time and in the manner prescribed by the Administrator, to have any portion of an eligible rollover distribution paid directly to an eligible retirement plan specified by the distributee in a direct rollover.
- (b) An eligible rollover distribution is any distribution of all or any portion of the balance to the credit of the distributee, except that an eligible rollover distribution does not include: any distribution that is one of a series of substantially equal periodic payments (not less frequently than annually) made for the life (or life expectancy) of the distributee or the joint lives (or joint life expectancies) of the distributee and the distributee's designated beneficiary, or for a specified period of ten (10) years or more; any distribution that is required under Section 401(a)(9) of the Code; or any distribution which is made on account of hardship. However, the portion of any eligible rollover distribution that consists of after-tax employee contributions which are not includible in gross income may be transferred only to an individual retirement account or annuity described in Section 408(a) or (b) of the Code, or to a qualified defined contribution plan described in Section 401(a) or 403(a) of the Code that agrees to separately account for amounts so transferred, including separately accounting for the portion of such distribution which is includible in gross income and the portion of such distribution which is not so includible.
- (c) An eligible retirement plan is an individual retirement account described in Section 408(a) of the Code, an individual retirement annuity described in Section 408(b) of the Code, an annuity plan described in Section 403(a) of the Code or a qualified trust described in Section 401(a) of the Code, or an annuity contract described in Section 403(b) of the Code that accepts the distributee's eligible rollover distribution. An eligible retirement plan shall also mean an eligible plan under Section 457(b) of the Code which is maintained by a state, political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state and which agrees to separately account for amounts transferred into such plan from this plan. This definition of eligible retirement plan shall also apply in the case of a distribution to a surviving spouse, or to a spouse or former spouse who is the alternative payee under a domestic relations order.
- (d) A distributee includes a Participant or Former Participant. In addition, the Participant's or Former Participant's surviving spouse and the Participant's or Former Participant's spouse or former spouse who is the alternate payee under a domestic relations order, as defined in Code Section 414(p), are distributees with regard to the interest of the spouse or former spouse.
- (e) A direct rollover is a payment by the Plan to the eligible retirement plan specified by the distributee.
- (f) For taxable years beginning after December 31, 2006, a Participant may elect to transfer employee (after-tax) or Roth elective deferral contributions by means of a direct rollover to a qualified plan or to a 403(b) plan that agrees to account separately for amounts so transferred, including accounting separately for the portion of such distribution which is includible in gross income and the portion of such distribution which is not includible in gross income.
- (g) For distributions after December 31, 2009, and unless otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement, for distributions between January 1, 2007 and December 31, 2009, a non-spouse Beneficiary who is a "designated beneficiary" under Code Section401(a)(9)(E) and the regulations thereunder, by a direct trustee-to-trustee transfer ("direct rollover"), may roll over all or any portion of his or her distribution to an individual retirement account the Beneficiary establishes for purposes of receiving the distribution. In order to be able to roll over the distribution, the distribution otherwise must satisfy the definition of an eligible rollover distribution. For purposes of this paragraph, the following additional provisions shall apply:
 - (1) Although a non-spouse Beneficiary may roll over directly a distribution as provided in this subsection (g), any distribution made prior to January 1, 2010 is not subject to the

direct rollover requirements of Code Section 401(a)(31) (including Code Section 401(a)(31)(B), the notice requirements of Code Section 402(f) or the mandatory withholding requirements of Code Section 3405(c)). If a non-spouse Beneficiary receives a distribution from the Plan, the distribution is not eligible for a "60-day" rollover.

- (2) If the Participant's named Beneficiary is a trust, the Plan may make a direct rollover to an individual retirement account on behalf of the trust, provided the trust satisfies the requirements to be a designated beneficiary within the meaning of Code Section 401(a)(9)(E).
- (3) A non-spouse Beneficiary may not roll over an amount which is a required minimum distribution, as determined under applicable Treasury regulations and other Revenue Service guidance. If the Participant dies before his or her required beginning date and the non-spouse Beneficiary rolls over to an IRA the maximum amount for rollover, the beneficiary may elect to use either the 5-year rule or the life expectancy rule, pursuant to Treas. Reg. Section 1.401(a)(9)-3, A-4(c), in determining the required minimum distributions from the IRA that receives the non-spouse beneficiary's distribution.
- (h) For distributions made after December 31, 2007, a Participant may elect to roll over directly an eligible rollover distribution to a Roth IRA described in Code Section 408A(b).

6.15 REQUIRED MINIMUM DISTRIBUTIONS

- (a) Except as otherwise provided in Subsection (g) below, the provisions of this section will apply for purposes of determining required minimum distributions for calendar years beginning with the 2003 calendar year. The requirements of this section will take precedence over any inconsistent provisions of the Plan. All distributions required under this section will be determined and made in accordance with the Regulations under Section 401(a)(9) and the minimum distribution incidental benefit requirement of Section 401(a)(9)(G) of the Code. Notwithstanding the other provisions of this section, distributions may be made under a designation made before January 1, 1984, in accordance with Section 242(b)(2) of the Tax Equity and Fiscal Responsibility Act (TEFRA) and the provisions of the plan that relate to Section 242(b)(2) of TEFRA.
- (b) The Participant's entire interest will be distributed, or begin to be distributed, to the Participant no later than the Participant's required beginning date. If the Participant dies before distributions begin, the Participant's entire interest will be distributed, or begin to be distributed, no later than as follows:
 - (1) If the Participant's surviving spouse is the Participant's sole designated Beneficiary, then except as provided in subsection (f), below, distributions to the surviving spouse will begin by December 31 of the calendar year immediately following the calendar year in which the Participant died, or by December 31 of the calendar year in which the Participant would have attained age 70-1/2, if later.
 - (2) If the Participant's surviving spouse is not the Participant's sole designated Beneficiary, then except as provided in subsection (f), below, distributions to the designated Beneficiary will begin by December 31 of the calendar year immediately following the calendar year in which the Participant died.
 - (3) If there is no designated Beneficiary as of September 30 of the year following the year of the Participant's death, the Participant's entire interest will be distributed by December 31 of the calendar year containing the fifth anniversary of the Participant's death.
 - (4) If the Participant's surviving spouse is the Participant's sole designated Beneficiary and the surviving spouse dies after the Participant but before distributions to the

surviving spouse begin, this subsection (b), other than paragraph (b)(1), will apply as if the surviving spouse were the Participant.

For purposes of this subsection (b) and subsection (d), unless paragraph (b)(4) applies, distributions are considered to begin on the Participant's required beginning date. If paragraph (b)(4) applies, distributions are considered to begin on the date distributions are required to begin to the surviving spouse under paragraph (b)(1). If distributions under an annuity purchased from an insurance company irrevocably commence to the Participant before the Participant's required beginning date (or to the Participant's surviving spouse before the date distributions are required to begin to the surviving spouse under paragraph (b)(1)), the date distributions are considered to begin is the date distributions actually commence.

Unless the Participant's interest is distributed in the form of an annuity purchased from an insurance company or in a single sum on or before the required beginning date, as of the first distribution calendar year distributions will be made in accordance with subsections (c) and (d) of this section. If the Participant's interest is distributed in the form of an annuity purchased from an insurance company, distributions thereunder will be made in accordance with the requirements of Section 401(a)(9) of the Code and the Regulations.

- (c) During the Participant's lifetime, the minimum amount that will be distributed for each distribution calendar year is the lesser of:
 - (1) the quotient obtained by dividing the Participant's account balance by the distribution period in the Uniform Lifetime Table set forth in Section 1.401(a)(9)-9, Q&A-2 of the Regulations, using the Participant's age as of the Participant's birthday in the distribution calendar year; or
 - (2) if the Participant's sole designated Beneficiary for the distribution calendar year is the Participant's spouse, the quotient obtained by dividing the Participant's account balance by the number in the Joint and Last Survivor Table set forth in Section 1.401(a)(9)-9, Q&A-3 of the Regulations, using the Participant's and spouse's attained ages as of the Participant's and spouse's birthdays in the distribution calendar year.

Required minimum distributions will be determined under this subsection (c) beginning with the first distribution calendar year and up to and including the distribution calendar year that includes the Participant's date of death.

- (d) (1) If the Participant dies on or after the date distributions begin and there is a designated Beneficiary, the minimum amount that will be distributed for each distribution calendar year after the year of the Participant's death is the quotient obtained by dividing the Participant's account balance by the longer of the remaining life expectancy of the Participant or the remaining life expectancy of the Participant's designated Beneficiary, determined as follows:
 - (i) The Participant's remaining life expectancy is calculated using the age of the Participant in the year of death, reduced by one for each subsequent year.
 - (ii) If the Participant's surviving spouse is the Participant's sole designated Beneficiary, the remaining life expectancy of the surviving spouse is calculated for each distribution calendar year after the year of the Participant's death using the surviving spouse's age as of the spouse's birthday in that year. For distribution calendar years after the year of the surviving spouse's death, the remaining life expectancy of the surviving spouse is calculated using the age of the surviving spouse as of the spouse's birthday in the calendar year of the spouse's death, reduced by one for each subsequent calendar year.

- (iii) If the Participant's surviving spouse is not the Participant's sole designated Beneficiary, the designated Beneficiary's remaining life expectancy is calculated using the age of the Beneficiary in the year following the year of the Participant's death, reduced by one for each subsequent year.
- (2) If the Participant dies on or after the date distributions begin and there is no designated Beneficiary as of September 30 of the year after the year of the Participant's death, the minimum amount that will be distributed for each distribution calendar year after the year of the Participant's death is the quotient obtained by dividing the Participant's account balance by the Participant's remaining life expectancy calculated using the age of the Participant in the year of death, reduced by one for each subsequent year.
- (3) Except as provided in subsection (f) below, if the Participant dies before the date distributions begin and there is a designated Beneficiary, the minimum amount that will be distributed for each distribution calendar year after the year of the Participant's death is the quotient obtained by dividing the Participant's account balance by the remaining life expectancy of the Participant's designated Beneficiary, determined as provided in paragraphs (d)(1) and (d)(2).
- (4) If the Participant dies before the date distributions begin and there is no designated Beneficiary as of September 30 of the year following the year of the Participant's death, distribution of the Participant's entire interest will be completed by December 31 of the calendar year containing the fifth anniversary of the Participant's death.
- (5) If the Participant dies before the date distributions begin, the Participant's surviving spouse is the Participant's sole designated Beneficiary, and the surviving spouse dies before distributions are required to begin to the surviving spouse under paragraph (b)(1), paragraphs (d)(3) (5) will apply as if the surviving spouse were the Participant.

(e) Definitions.

- (1) "Designated Beneficiary" means the individual who is designated as the Beneficiary under Section 6.02 of the Plan and is the designated Beneficiary under Section 401(a)(9) of the Code and Section 1.401(a)(9)-4 of the Regulations.
- (2) "Distribution calendar year" means a calendar year for which a minimum distribution is required. For distributions beginning before the Participant's death, the first distribution calendar year is the calendar year immediately preceding the calendar year which contains the Participant's required beginning date. For distributions beginning after the Participant's death, the first distribution calendar year is the calendar year in which distributions are required to begin under subsection (b). The required minimum distribution for the Participant's first distribution calendar year will be made on or before the Participant's required beginning date. The required minimum distribution for other distribution calendar years, including the required minimum distribution for the distribution calendar year in which the Participant's required beginning date occurs, will be made on or before December 31 of that distribution calendar year.
- (3) "Life expectancy" means life expectancy as computed by use of the Single Life Table in Section 1.401(a)(9)-9, Q&A-1 of the Regulations.
- (4) "Participant's account balance" means the account balance as of the last valuation date in the calendar year immediately preceding the distribution calendar year (valuation calendar year) increased by the amount of any contributions made and allocated or forfeitures allocated to the account balance as of dates in the valuation calendar year after the valuation date and decreased by distributions made in the valuation calendar year after the valuation date. The

account balance for the valuation calendar year includes any amounts rolled over or transferred to the plan either in the valuation calendar year or in the distribution calendar year if distributed or transferred in the valuation calendar year.

- (5) "Required beginning date" means April 1st of the calendar year following the later of:
 - (i) the calendar year in which the Participant attains age 70-1/2; or
 - (ii) the calendar year in which the Participant retires.
- (f) For purposes of paragraphs (b)(1), (b)(2) and (d)(3) of this Section 6.15, Participants or beneficiaries may elect on an individual basis whether the 5-year rule or the life expectancy rule applies to distributions after the death of a Participant who has a designated Beneficiary. The election must be made no later than the earlier of September 30 of the calendar year in which distribution would be required to begin under paragraphs (b)(1) or (b)(2), or by September 30 of the calendar year which contains the fifth anniversary of the Participant's (or, if applicable, the surviving spouse's) death. If neither the Participant nor the beneficiary makes an election under this paragraph, distributions will be made in accordance with paragraphs (b)(1) or (b)(2) and (d)(3).

6.16 WAIVER OF 2009 REQUIRED MINIMUM DISTRIBUTIONS

- (a) This subsection (a) applies unless the Employer elects (in the Adoption Agreement) to apply the provisions of subsection (b) or (c), below. Notwithstanding the provisions of Code Section 401(a)(9)(H), a Participant or Beneficiary who would have been required to receive required minimum distributions for 2009 but for the enactment of Code Section 401(a)(9)(H) ("2009 RMDs"), and who would have satisfied that requirement by receiving distributions that are one or more payments in a series of installments (that include 2009 RMDs), will continue to receive those distributions for 2009 unless the Participant or Beneficiary chooses not to receive such distributions. Participants and Beneficiaries described in the preceding sentence will be given the opportunity to elect not to receive the distributions that include 2009 RMDs. For all other Participants and Beneficiaries, the requirement to receive the 2009 RMD shall be suspended in accordance with Code Section 401(a)(9)(H).
- (b) This subsection (b) applies if the Employer so elects in the Adoption Agreement. Notwithstanding the provisions of Code Section 401(a)(9)(H), a Participant or Beneficiary who would have been required to receive required minimum distributions for 2009 but for the enactment of Code Section 401(a)(9)(H) ("2009 RMDs"), and who would have satisfied that requirement by receiving distributions that are either (1) equal to the 2009 RMDs or (2) one or more payments in a series of installments (that include 2009 RMDs), will receive those distributions for 2009 unless the Participant or Beneficiary chooses not to receive such distributions. Participants and Beneficiaries described in the preceding sentence will be given the opportunity to elect to stop receiving the distributions described in the preceding sentence.
- (c) This subsection (c) applies if the Employer so elects in the Adoption Agreement. Notwithstanding the provisions of Code Section 401(a)(9)(H), a Participant or Beneficiary who would have been required to receive required minimum distributions for 2009 but for the enactment of Code Section 401(a)(9)(H) ("2009 RMDs"), and who would have satisfied that requirement by receiving distributions that are either (1) equal to the 2009 RMDs or (2) one or more payments in a series of installments (that include the 2009 RMDs), will receive those distributions for 2009. However, Participants and Beneficiaries receiving installments will be given the opportunity to elect not to receive the distributions that include 2009 RMDs.
- (d) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Plan relating to required minimum distributions under Code Section 401(a)(9), and solely for purposes of applying the direct rollover provisions of the Plan, certain additional distributions in 2009, as elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, will be treated as eligible rollover distributions. If no election is made by the Employer in the Adoption

agreement, then a direct istributions without rega	rd to Code Section 40	01(a)(9)(H).	stributions tha	would be	eligible follov

6.17 PARTICIPANT DISTRIBUTION NOTIFICATION

For any distribution notice issued in Plan Years beginning after December 31, 2006, any reference to the 90-day maximum notice period prior to distribution in applying the notice requirements of Code Section 402(f) (the rollover notice) will become 180 days.

ARTICLE VII AMENDMENT and TERMINATION

7.01 AMENDMENT BY EMPLOYER

- (a) The Employer shall have the right at any time to amend the Adoption Agreement, but limited to changes to the choice of options in the Adoption Agreement. The Employer may also add certain IRS sample or model amendments or other required good faith amendments which specifically provide that their adoption will not cause its Plan to be treated as individually designed. The Employer may specify or change the effective date of a provision as permitted under the Plan and correct obvious and unambiguous typographical errors and/or cross-references that merely correct a reference but that do not in any way change the original intended meaning of the provisions. However, no such amendment shall authorize or permit any part of the Plan's assets (other than such part as is required to pay administration expenses) to be used for or diverted to purposes other than for the exclusive benefit of the Participants or their Beneficiaries or estates; no such amendment shall cause any reduction in the account balance of any Participant or cause or permit any portion of the Plan's assets to revert to or become property of the Employer; and no such amendment which affects the rights, duties or responsibilities of the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) and Administrator may be made without the Insurer's (or Trustee's, if applicable) and Administrator's written consent. Any such amendment shall become effective upon delivery of a new duly executed Adoption Agreement, provided that the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) shall, in writing, consent to the terms of such amendment.
- (b) Any other amendment of the Plan or the non-elective portions of the Adoption Agreement by the Employer shall result in this Plan's being treated as an individually-designed plan for which the Employer will have to apply to the appropriate key district of the Internal Revenue Service for a determination letter if the Employer wants assurance that the Plan meets the requirements of the Code.

7.02 AMENDMENT BY VOLUME SUBMITTER PRACTITIONER

- (a) Effective as of the date of the advisory letter, the Volume Submitter Practitioner may, from time to time, amend the plan (without the Employer's consent) in order to conform the Plan to any requirement for qualification of the Plan (and the related Trust, if applicable) under the sections of the Code applicable to "governmental plans," as defined in Section 414(d) of the Code. Such amendments may address changes in the Code, the related Treasury regulations, revenue rulings, or other statements published by the Internal Revenue Service. The Volume Submitter Practitioner may not amend the Plan in any manner which would modify any election made by the Employer under the Plan without the Employer's written consent. Furthermore, the Volume Submitter Practitioner may not amend the Plan in any manner which would violate the proscriptions of Section 7.01(a), above. The Volume Submitter Practitioner's authority to amend the plan shall cease as of the date the Internal Revenue Service requires the Employer to file a Form 5300 as an individually designed plan because of substantial modifications of the specimen plan. If the Employer is required to obtain a determination letter in order to have reliance (for example, because the Employer has modified the specimen plan), the Volume Submitter Practitioner's authority to amend the Plan shall be conditioned on the Employer's plan being covered by a favorable determination letter.
- (b) The Volume Submitter Practitioner shall furnish each adopting Employer with a copy of the approved Plan, copies of any subsequent amendments, and the most recently issued IRS advisory letter. The Volume Submitter Practitioner shall maintain, or have maintained on its behalf, a record of the names, business addresses and taxpayer identification numbers of all Employers that have adopted the Plan, and shall make reasonable and diligent efforts to ensure that adopting Employers have received and are aware of all Plan amendments and that such Employees adopt new documents as necessary. If the Volume Submitter Practitioner reasonably concludes that an Employer's plan may no longer be a qualified plan, the Volume Submitter Practitioner shall (i) notify the Employer accordingly, (ii) advise the Employer about the adverse tax consequences that may result from loss of the plan's qualified status, and (iii) inform the Employer about the availability of the Employee Plans Compliance Resolution System (EPCRS).

7.03 TERMINATION

- (a) The Employer shall have the right at any time to terminate the Plan by delivering to the Insurer (or trustee, if applicable) and Administrator advanced written notice of such prospective termination. Upon termination of the Plan or, in the case of a profit sharing plan the complete discontinuance of contributions to the Plan, all amounts credited to the affected Participants' Accounts shall become 100% Vested and shall not thereafter be subject to Forfeiture, and all unallocated amounts, including Forfeitures, shall be allocated to the accounts of all Participants in accordance with the provisions hereof.
- (b) Upon the termination of the Plan, the Employer shall direct the distribution of the assets to Participants in a manner which is consistent with and satisfies the provisions of Section 6.05. Distributions to a Participant shall be made in any form otherwise permitted by the Plan.
- (c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event this is a Money Purchase Plan which provides that Forfeitures must be used to reduce Employer contributions, any Forfeitures which cannot be reallocated may revert to the Employer. However, this provision shall not apply until the end of the fifth calendar year following the date the Plan provision was adopted.

ARTICLE VIII MISCELLANEOUS

8.01 EMPLOYER ADOPTIONS

- (a) Any state or local governmental entity may, with the approval of the Volume Submitter Practitioner, become the Employer hereunder by executing the Adoption Agreement in a form satisfactory to the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) and it shall provide such additional information as the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) may require.
- (b) Except as otherwise provided in this Plan, the adoption of this Plan by the Employer and the participation of its Participants shall be separate and apart from that of any other employer and its participants hereunder.

8.02 PARTICIPANT'S RIGHTS

This Plan shall not be deemed to constitute a contract between the Employer and any Participant or to be a consideration or an inducement for the employment of any Participant or Employee. Nothing contained in this Plan shall be deemed to give any Participant or Employee the right to be retained in the service of the Employer or to interfere with the right of the Employer to discharge any Participant or Employee at any time regardless of the effect which such discharge shall have upon the Employee as a Participant of this Plan.

8.03 ALIENATION

- (a) Subject to the exceptions provided below, no benefit which shall be payable to any person (including a Participant or the Participant's Beneficiary) shall be subject in any manner to anticipation, alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance, or charge, and any attempt to anticipate, alienate, sell, transfer, assign, pledge, encumber, or charge the same shall be void; and no such benefit shall in any manner be liable for, or subject to, the debts, contracts, liabilities, engagements, or torts of any such person, nor shall it be subject to attachment or legal process for or against such person, and the same shall not be recognized except to such extent as may be required by law.
- (b) This provision shall not apply to the extent a Participant or Beneficiary is indebted to the Plan by reason of a loan made pursuant to Section 11.01. At the time a distribution is to be made to or for a Participant's or Beneficiary's benefit, such proportion of the amount to be distributed as shall equal such indebtedness shall be paid to the Plan, to apply against or discharge such indebtedness. Prior to making a payment, however, the Participant or Beneficiary must be given written notice by the Administrator that such indebtedness is to be so paid in whole or part from the Participant's Account. If the Participant or Beneficiary does not agree that the indebtedness is a valid claim against the Participant's Vested Account, the Participant or Beneficiary shall be entitled to a review of the validity of the claim in accordance with procedures provided in Sections 2.11 and 2.12.
- (c) This provision shall not apply to amounts set aside or otherwise distributed to an "alternate payee" under a "domestic relations order," as defined in Code Section 414(p). The Administrator shall establish a written procedure to administer distributions under such domestic relations orders. Further, to the extent provided under a domestic relations order, a former spouse of a Participant shall be treated as the spouse or surviving spouse for all purposes under the Plan.
- (d) Notwithstanding any provision of this section to the contrary, an offset to a Participant's accrued benefit against an amount that the Participant is ordered or required to pay the Plan with respect to a judgment, order, or decree issued, or a settlement entered into, on or after August 5, 1997, shall be permitted in accordance with Code Section 401(a)(13)(C) and (D).

8.04 CONSTRUCTION OF PLAN

This Plan and Trust shall be construed and enforced according to the Code and the laws of the State or Commonwealth in which the Employer's principal office is located, other than its laws respecting choice of law.

8.05 GENDER AND NUMBER

Wherever any words are used herein in the masculine, feminine or neutral gender, they shall be construed as though they were also used in another gender in all cases where they would so apply, and whenever any words are used herein in the singular or plural form, they shall be construed as though they were also used in the other form in all cases where they would so apply.

8.06 LEGAL ACTION

In the event any claim, suit, or proceeding is brought regarding the Plan established hereunder to which the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) or the Administrator may be a party, and such claim, suit, or proceeding is resolved in favor of the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) or Administrator, they shall be entitled to be reimbursed from the Plan assets for any and all costs, attorney's fees, and other expenses pertaining thereto incurred for which the Insurer (or Trustee) or the Administrator shall have become liable.

8.07 PROHIBITION AGAINST DIVERSION OF FUNDS

- (a) Except as provided below and otherwise specifically permitted by law, it shall be impossible by operation of the Plan (or of the Trust, if any) by termination of either, by power of revocation or amendment, by the happening of any contingency, by collateral arrangement or by any other means, for any part of the corpus or income of any Plan assets maintained pursuant to the Plan or any funds contributed thereto to be used for, or diverted to, purposes other than the exclusive benefit of Participants, Retired Participants, or their Beneficiaries.
- (b) In the event the Employer shall make a contribution under a mistake of fact, the Employer may demand repayment of such contribution at any time within one (1) year following the time of payment and the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) shall return such amount to the Employer within the one (1) year period. Earnings of the Plan attributable to the contributions may not be returned to the Employer but any losses attributable thereto must reduce the amount so returned.

8.08 EMPLOYER'S, ADMINISTRATOR'S AND TRUSTEE'S PROTECTIVE CLAUSE

Neither the Employer nor the Administrator (nor the Trustee, if applicable) nor their successors, shall be responsible for the validity of any Contract issued hereunder or for the failure on the part of the Insurer to make payments provided by any such Contract, or for the action of any person which may delay payment or render a Contract null and void or unenforceable in whole or in part.

8.09 INSURER'S PROTECTIVE CLAUSE

The Insurer who shall issue Contracts hereunder shall not have any responsibility for the validity of this Plan or for the tax or legal aspects of this Plan. The Insurer shall be protected and held harmless in acting in accordance with any written direction of the Employer or Administrator (or Trustee, if applicable), and shall have no duty to see to the application of any funds paid to the Administrator (or Trustee, if applicable), nor be required to question any actions directed by the Employer or Administrator. In the event of any conflict between the terms of this Plan and the terms of any Contract issued hereunder, the Plan provisions shall control.

8.10 RECEIPT AND RELEASE FOR PAYMENTS

Any payment to any Participant, the Participant's legal representative, Beneficiary, or to any guardian or committee appointed for such Participant or Beneficiary in accordance with the provisions of this Plan, shall, to the

extent thereof, be in full satisfaction of all claims hereunder against the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) and the Employer, either of whom may require such Participant, legal representative, Beneficiary, guardian or committee, as a condition precedent to such payment, to execute a receipt and release thereof in such form as shall be determined by the Insurer or Employer. Any authorization of, or request for, payment directed to the Insurer shall be signed by the Administrator and/or Participant or Beneficiary.

8.11 ACTION BY THE EMPLOYER

Whenever the Employer under the terms of the Plan is permitted or required to do or perform any act or matter or thing, it shall be done and performed by a person duly authorized by its legally constituted authority.

8.12 RESPONSIBLE PARTIES AND ALLOCATION OF RESPONSIBILITY

- (a) The "responsible parties" of this Plan are (1) the Employer, (2) the Administrator and, if there is a discretionary Trustee, the Trustee. The responsible parties shall have only those specific powers, duties, responsibilities, and obligations as are specifically given them under the Plan, including but not limited to any agreement allocating or delegating their responsibilities, the terms of which are incorporated herein by reference. Unless otherwise indicated herein or pursuant to such agreement(s), the Employer shall have the duties specified in Article II hereof, as the same may be allocated or delegated thereunder, including but not limited to the responsibility for making the contributions provided for under Section 4.01, and shall have the authority:
 - (1) to appoint and remove the Insurer (or Trustee); and
 - (2) to amend or terminate, in whole or in part, the Plan.
- (b) The Administrator shall have the responsibility for the administration of the Plan, including but not limited to the items specified in Article II of the Plan, as the same may be allocated or delegated thereunder.
- (c) The Trustee (if any) shall have the responsibility of management and control of the Plan assets that are not held in Contracts, including but not limited to the acquisition and disposition of Plan assets except to the extent it shall act under the direction of the Employer, the Administrator, or Participants pursuant to Article II and Article V of the Plan.

Each responsible party warrants that any directions given, information furnished, or action taken by it shall be in accordance with the provisions of the Plan, authorizing or providing for such direction, information or action. Furthermore, each responsible party may rely upon any such direction, information or action of another responsible party as being proper under the Plan, and is not required under the Plan to inquire into the propriety of any such direction, information or action. It is intended under the Plan that each responsible party shall be responsible for the proper exercise of its own powers, duties, responsibilities and obligations under the Plan as specified or allocated hereunder. No responsible party shall guarantee the Plan assets in any manner against investment loss or depreciation in asset value. Any person or group may serve in more than one responsible party capacity.

8.13 HEADINGS

The headings and subheadings of this Plan have been inserted for convenience of reference and are to be ignored in any construction of the provisions hereof.

8.14 APPROVAL BY INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if, pursuant to an application timely filed by or on behalf of the Plan, the Commissioner of Internal Revenue Service or the Commissioner's delegate should determine that the Plan does not initially qualify as a qualified plan under Code Sections 401 and 501, and such determination is

not contested, or if contested, is finally upheld, then if the Plan is a new plan, it shall be void ab initio and all amounts contributed to the Plan, by the Employer, less expenses paid, shall be returned within one year of the date the initial qualification is denied and the Plan shall terminate, and the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) shall be discharged from all further obligations. If the disqualification relates to an amended plan, then the Plan shall operate as if it had not been amended and restated. For purposes of this section, an application is timely filed if filed by such date as the Secretary of the Treasury may prescribe for plans maintained by governmental employers.

8.15 UNIFORMITY

All provisions of this Plan shall be interpreted and applied in a uniform, nondiscriminatory manner.

ARTICLE IX PARTICIPATING EMPLOYERS

9.01 ELECTION TO BECOME A PARTICIPATING EMPLOYER

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, with the consent of the Employer and Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable), any Affiliated Employer that is also a state or local governmental entity may adopt this Plan and all of the provisions hereof, and participate herein and be known as a Participating Employer, by a properly executed document evidencing said intent and will of such Participating Employer.

9.02 REQUIREMENTS OF PARTICIPATING EMPLOYERS

- (a) Each Participating Employer shall be required to select the same Adoption Agreement provisions as those selected by the Employer other than the Plan Year, the Fiscal Year, and such other items that must, by necessity, vary among employers.
- (b) Each such Participating Employer shall be required to use the same Insurer (or Trustee, if a trusteed Plan) as provided in this Plan.
- (c) The Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) may, but shall not be required to, commingle, hold and invest as one fund all contributions made by Participating Employers, as well as all increments thereof.
- (d) The transfer of any Participant from or to an Employer participating in this Plan, regardless of whether the Participant is an Employee of the Employer or a Participating Employer, shall not affect such Participant's rights under the Plan, and all amounts credited to such Participant's Account as well as accumulated service time with the transferor or predecessor, and length of participation in the Plan, shall continue to the credit of such Participant.
- (e) Any expenses of the Plan which are to be paid by the Employer shall be paid by each Participating Employer in the same proportion that the total amount standing to the credit of all Participants employed by such Employer bears to the total standing to the credit of all Participants.

9.03 DESIGNATION OF AGENT

Each Participating Employer shall be deemed to be a part of this Plan; provided, however, that with respect to all of its relations with the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) and Administrator for purposes of this Plan, each Participating Employer shall be deemed to have designated irrevocably the Employer as its agent. Unless the context of the Plan clearly indicates the contrary, the word "Employer" shall be deemed to include each Participating Employer as related to its adoption of the Plan.

9.04 EMPLOYEE TRANSFERS

It is anticipated that an Employee may be transferred between Participating Employers, and in the event of any such transfer, accumulated service and eligibility shall be carried with the Employee involved. No such transfer shall effect a termination of employment hereunder, and the Participating Employer to which the Employee is transferred shall thereupon become obligated hereunder with respect to such Employee in the same manner as was the Participating Employer from whom the Employee was transferred.

9.05 PARTICIPATING EMPLOYER'S CONTRIBUTION AND FORFEITURES

Any contribution or Forfeiture subject to allocation during each Plan Year shall be allocated among all Participants of all Participating Employers in accordance with the provisions of this Plan. On the basis of the information furnished by the Administrator, the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) may keep separate books and records concerning the affairs of each Participating Employer hereunder and as to the accounts and credits of the Employees of each Participating Employer. The Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) may, but need not, register

Contracts so as to evidence that a particular Participating Employer is the interested Employer hereunder, but in the event of an Employee transfer from one Participating Employer to another, the employing Employer shall immediately notify the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) thereof.

9.06 AMENDMENT

This Plan may be amended by the Employer at any time without any action by each and every Participating Employer hereunder. However, the Employer may only amend this Plan with the consent of the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) where such consent is necessary in accordance with the terms of this Plan.

9.07 DISCONTINUANCE OF PARTICIPATION

Any Participating Employer shall be permitted to discontinue or revoke its participation in the Plan at any time. At the time of any such discontinuance or revocation, satisfactory evidence thereof and of any applicable conditions imposed shall be delivered to the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable). The Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) shall thereafter transfer, deliver and assign Contracts and other fund assets allocable to the Participants of such Participating Employer to such new Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) as shall have been designated by such Participating Employer, in the event that it has established a separate pension plan for its Employees. If no successor is designated, the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) shall retain such assets for the Employees of said Participating Employer pursuant to the provisions of Article V hereof. In no such event shall any part of the corpus or income of the fund as it relates to such Participating Employer be used for or diverted for purposes other than for the exclusive benefit of the Employees of such Participating Employer.

9.08 ADMINISTRATOR'S AUTHORITY

The Administrator shall have authority to make any and all necessary rules or regulations, binding upon all Participating Employers and all Participants, to effectuate the purpose of this Article.

ARTICLE X CONTRACTS (APPLIES ONLY TO ANNUITY CONTRACTS OR PORTION OF PLAN FUNDED WITH ANNUITY CONTRACTS)

10.01 PURCHASE OF CONTRACTS

The benefits provided under this Plan may be funded through the purchase of Contracts issued by The Variable Annuity Life Insurance Company (VALIC) or any other authorized Insurer. The provisions of this Article shall apply to any such Contracts which, as determined by the Employer, will not be held by the Trustee. The Employer shall pay within a reasonable period of time all contributions which are made to this Plan to the Insurer for the purchase of such Contracts.

10.02 EMPLOYER DESIGNATED AS OWNER

Each Contract shall designate the Employer as sole owner, with rights reserved to said Employer to exercise those rights or options contained therein that apply to the owner of the Contract. All such Contracts shall be held by the Employer who shall have the power and right to take such actions with respect to such Contracts as shall be in accordance with this Plan for purposes of providing benefits to Participants. The Employer shall be treated as trustee to the extent that the Contracts are treated as trusts pursuant to Code Section 401(f).

10.03 TYPE OF CONTRACT(S)

The Employer shall have the right to determine whether to have fixed or combination fixed and variable Contracts and whether to have group or individual Contracts. The Employer shall base its decision on which Contract(s) would be more beneficial for the Participants and on the administrative tasks imposed by each Contract. Such decision shall be in the sole discretion of the Employer.

10.04 VOTING RIGHTS

The Employer shall solicit and act in accordance with the instructions of the Participant in regard to any voting rights which pertain to a Contract for variable accumulation of benefits. During the accumulation period, Participants will have the right to instruct the Employer with respect to the votes attributable to any Vested interest they have in the Contract. All other votes entitled to be cast during the accumulation period may be cast by the Employer in its sole discretion. During the annuity period, every Participant will have the right to instruct the Employer with respect to all votes attributable to the amount of assets established in the appropriate separate account to meet the annuity obligations related to such Participant. The Insurer will provide all notices and proxy materials to the Employer for distribution to the Participants. The Employer may cast all votes for which instructions were not received in accordance with the Employer's sole discretion.

10.05 CERTIFICATE OF PARTICIPATION

The Insurer shall issue a certificate of participation and/or a Contract, as applicable, to each Participant. Each such certificate of participation shall set forth in substance the benefits or other rights to which such Participant is entitled under the Contract.

10.06 INSURER INDEMNIFICATION

To the extent permitted by law, the Employer agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Insurer against any and all claims, losses, damages, expenses and liabilities the Insurer may incur in the exercise and performance of the Insurer's duties hereunder, unless the same are determined to be due to gross negligence or willful misconduct on the part of the Insurer.

ARTICLE XI LOANS, AUDITS AND TRANSFERS

11.01 LOANS TO PARTICIPANTS

- (a) If specified in the Adoption Agreement, the Administrator (or Trustee, if applicable) may authorize loans to Participants or Beneficiaries under the following circumstances:
 - (1) loans shall be made available to all Participants on a reasonably equivalent basis:
 - (2) loans shall bear a reasonable rate of interest;
 - (3) loans shall be adequately secured;
 - (4) loans shall provide for periodic repayment over a reasonable period of time, as defined in subsection (d) below; and
 - (5) loans shall not be made for an amount less than the minimum loan amount stated in the Contracts.
- (b) Loans shall be evidenced by a legally enforceable agreement that specifies the amount and date of the loan and the repayment schedule. Such agreement must be either:
 - (1) in a written paper document or
 - (2) in an electronic medium under a system that is accessible to participants, and under which (i) only participants may make the loan request, (ii) participants are provided with an opportunity to review, confirm, modify or rescind their request, and (iii) the participant receives either a written or electronic confirmation of the request.
 - (c) Loans shall be permitted from all contribution sources, including rollovers.
- (d) Loans made pursuant to this section (when added to the outstanding balance of all other loans made by the Plan to the Participant) shall be limited to the lesser of:
 - (1) \$50,000 reduced by the excess (if any) of the highest outstanding balance of loans from the Plan to the Participant during the one year period ending on the day before the date on which such loan is made, over the outstanding balance of loans from the Plan to the Participant on the date on which such loan was made, or
 - (2) the greater of (i) one-half (1/2) of the present value of the non-forfeitable accrued benefit of the Employee under the Plan, or (ii) \$10,000.

For purposes of this limit, all plans of the Employer shall be considered one plan.

(e) Loans shall provide for level amortization with payments to be made not less frequently than quarterly over a period not to exceed five (5) years. However, loans used to acquire any dwelling unit which, within a reasonable time, is to be used (determined at the time the loan is made) as a principal residence of the Participant shall provide for periodic repayment over a reasonable period of time that may exceed five (5) years. Loan repayments must be suspended under this Plan as permitted under Code Section 414(u)(4).

- (f) An assignment or pledge of any portion of a Participant's interest in the Plan and a loan, pledge, or assignment with respect to any Contract purchased under the Plan, shall be treated as a loan under this Section.
- (g) Notwithstanding anything in this Plan to the contrary, if a Participant or Beneficiary defaults on a loan made pursuant to this section that is secured by the Participant's interest in the Plan, then a Participant's interest may be offset by the amount subject to the security to the extent there is a distributable event permitted by the Code or Regulations.
- (h) A Participant loan program shall be established which must include, but need not be limited to, the following:
 - (1) the identity of the person or positions authorized to administer the Participant loan program;
 - (2) a procedure for applying for loans;
 - (3) the basis on which loans will be approved or denied;
 - (4) limitations, if any, on the types and amounts of loans offered, including what constitutes a hardship or financial need if selected in the Adoption Agreement;
 - (5) the procedure under the program for determining a reasonable rate of interest;
 - (6) the types of collateral which may secure a Participant loan; and
 - (7) the events constituting default and the steps that will be taken to preserve Plan assets.
- (i) Such Participant loan program shall be contained in a separate written document. Furthermore, such Participant loan program may be modified or amended in writing from time to time without the necessity of amending this Section. In the event of any conflict between the terms of this Plan and a separate loan program, the terms of the Plan will control.

11.02 TRANSFER OF INTEREST

Notwithstanding any other provision contained in this Plan, the Insurer (or Trustee, if applicable) at the direction of the Administrator may transfer the Vested interest, if any, of a Participant's Account to another trust or Contract forming part of a pension, profit sharing, or stock bonus plan meeting the requirements of Code Section 401(a) or 403(a), provided that the trust or Contract to which such transfers are made permits the transfer to be made.

ARTICLE XII HEART ACT PROVISIONS

12.01 DEATH BENEFITS

In the case of a death occurring on or after January 1, 2007, if a Participant dies while performing qualified military service (as defined in Code Section 414(u)), the Participant's Beneficiary is entitled to any additional benefits (other than benefit accruals relating to the period of qualified military service) provided under the Plan as if the Participant had resumed employment and then terminated employment on account of death. Moreover, the Plan will credit the Participant's qualified military service as service for vesting purposes, as though the Participant had resumed employment under USERRA immediately prior to the Participant's death.

12.02 BENEFIT ACCRUAL

If the Employer elects in the Adoption Agreement to apply this Section 12.02, then effective as of the date specified in the Adoption Agreement, for benefit accrual purposes, the Plan treats an individual who dies or becomes disabled (as defined under the terms of the Plan) while performing qualified military service with respect to the Employer as if the individual had resumed employment in accordance with the individual's reemployment rights under USERRA, on the day preceding death or disability (as the case may be) and terminated employment on the actual date of death or disability.

The Plan will determine the amount of Employee contributions and the amount of elective deferrals of an individual treated as reemployed under this Section 12.02 for purposes of applying paragraph Code Section 414(u)(8)(C) on the basis of the individual's average actual Employee contributions or elective deferrals for the lesser of: (i) the 12-month period of service with the Employer immediately prior to qualified military service; or (ii) the actual length of continuous service with the Employer.

12.03 DIFFERENTIAL WAGE PAYMENTS

For years beginning after December 31, 2008: (a) an individual receiving a differential wage payment, as defined by Code Section 3401(h)(2), is treated as an employee of the employer making the payment; (b) the differential wage payment is treated as compensation for purposes of Code Section 415(c)(3) and Treasury Reg. Section 1.415(c)-2 (e.g., for purposes of Code Section 415, top-heavy provisions of Code Section 416, determination of highly compensated employees under Code Section 414(q), and applying the 5% gateway requirement under the Code Section 401(a)(4) regulations); and (c) the Plan is not treated as failing to meet the requirements of any provision described in Code Section 414(u)(1)(C) (or corresponding plan provisions, including, but not limited to, Plan provisions related to the ADP or ACP test) by reason of any contribution or benefit which is based on the differential wage payment. The Plan Administrator operationally may determine, for purposes of the provisions described in Code Section 414(u)(1)(C), whether to take into account any deferrals, and if applicable, any matching contributions, attributable to differential wages. Differential wage payments (as described herein) will also be considered Compensation for all Plan purposes unless otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement.

Subsection 12.03(c) above applies only if all employees of the Employer performing service in the uniformed services described in Code Section 3401(h)(2)(A) are entitled to receive differential wage payments (as defined in Code Section 3401(h)(2)) on reasonably equivalent terms and, if eligible to participate in a retirement plan maintained by the Employer, to make contributions based on the payments on reasonably equivalent terms (taking into account Code Section 410(b)(3), (4), and (5)).

12.04 DEEMED SEVERANCE

Notwithstanding subsection 12.03(a), if a Participant performs service in the uniformed services (as defined in Code Section 414(u)(12)(B)) on active duty for a period of more than 30 days, the Participant will be deemed to have a severance from employment solely for purposes of eligibility for distribution of amounts not subject to Code Section 412. However, the Plan will not distribute such a Participant's account on account of this deemed severance from employment unless (i) the Employer elects in the Adoption Agreement to allow such distributions, and (ii) the

Participant specifically elects to receive a benefit distribution hereunder. If a Participant elects to receive a distribution on account of this deemed severance, then the individual may not make an elective deferral or employee contribution to this Plan (or any other plan of the Employer) during the 6-month period beginning on the date of the distribution. If a Participant would be entitled to a distribution on account of a deemed severance, and a distribution on account of another Plan provision (such as a Qualified Reservist Distribution), then the other Plan provision will control and the 6-month suspension will not apply.